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01  

February 22  
20th anniversary of 
official opening of 
Martorell production 
facility.	

02    
March 5  
Geneva Motor Show 
backdrop for presentation 
of new Leon SC, 3-door 
dynamic version of Leon.

07    
September 19  
Apprentices School 
opens doors to new 
course with record 
number of students.

08 

October 23  
Martorell production facility 
given prestigious ‘Automotive 
Lean Production’ award for 
quality and efficiency in 
production system and team 
spirit.

09    
November 7  
Dr. Francisco Javier 
García Sanz proclaimed 
‘Distinguished Personality 
of the Spanish Automotive 
Sector’ by ASEPA.

10  
November 11  
Official opening of SEAT al 
Sol, largest photovoltaic 
plant in automotive world.

Timeline  
2013  
 



04    

May 8  
Leon Cup Racer main 
brand novelty at 32nd 
edition of Wörthersee. 

03 

April 15  
Jürgen Stackmann takes over 
from James Muir as Chairman of 
Executive Committee. 

05    
July 2  
Prestigious British car 
magazine Auto Express 
proclaims Leon ‘Car of 
the Year 2013’ in UK.

06  
September 10   
New Leon ST, first-ever 
estate version of Spanish 
compact car, unveiled at 
Frankfurt Motor Show. 

11    
November 13  
60th anniversary of start-
of-production of SEAT 
1400, brand’s first-ever 
vehicle.

12    
December 19   
SEAT Leon given the ‘ABC 
Best Car of the Year Award 
2014’ in Spain, awarded 
by a jury of specialized 
automotive journalists.



Sales to end  
customers

355,004 vehicles  

 
Production  

Martorell plant   
390,048 vehicles

 
Basic workforce  

11,458 employees

 
Net  

sales  
6,473 millions of euros

 
Investments  
337 millions of euros 

Markets  
76 countries

seat models 285,574 
AUDI Q3 104,474

seat models















































































































































































































































WE ARE 
ACCESSIBLE
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In the midst of a turbulent economic 

environment, the strategy undertaken 

by Human Resources focused on the 

training of apprentices as one of the 

company’s commitments to the future; 

within this context, the dual training 

system gradually moved towards 

consolidation. Negotiations between 

SEAT and the majority-member trade 

unions – aimed at minimising the 

impact of personnel-cost reduction 

measures – also played a major role. 

Likewise, the company continued to 

persevere in its work looking after the 

health and motivation of its employees. 

SEAT had no hesitation in investing in 

prevention measures as well as health 

promotion campaigns, together with 

the now-traditional event of its tribute 

to seniority, which attracted the largest 

participation to date.   

Basic workforce by functions and centres  
aT DECEMBER 31
					   

Variation

2013 2012 Absolute %

Direct 7,146 7,201 (55) (0.8)

Martorell 6,525 6,594 (69) (1.0)

Zona Franca 621 607 14 2.3

Indirect 4,312 4,264 48 1.1

Martorell 3,708 3,663 45 1.2

Zona Franca 559 557 2 0.4

Other centres 45 44 1 2.3

Total workforce (*) 11,458 11,465 (7) (0.1)

* �Figures for 2013 and 2012 do not include 133 and 134 employees in partial retirement, respectively.  
Likewise, figures for 2013 and 2012 do not include 166 and 111 apprentices with labour contract, 
respectively.

SEAT Apprentices School. 

CONSOLIDATION OF 
DUAL VOCATIONAL 
TRAINING

The system of dual vocational 

training, based on the German model 

and implemented in 2012, began 

moving closer to consolidation. A 

major contribution to this state of 

affairs was no doubt the agreement 

signed between SEAT and the Catalan 

government’s Department of Education 
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– thereby granting official recognition to this training model, as 

well as to the labour experience and non-regulated training of 

company employees. 

The agreement laid the foundations for joint development 

of the training syllabuses of automotive sector trades. 

Additionally, the company made a commitment to collaborating 

in the training of the Catalan government’s teaching staff, as 

well as providing the Department of Education with vehicles  

for educational purposes in publicly-owned vocational  

training centres. 

In 2013 at its Apprentices School SEAT began the second year 

of this new course of studies, which combines theory and 

practice at the training centre with practical work at company 

plants. The course of studies totals 4,625 hours distributed over 

three academic years, during which students sign a labour and 

apprenticeship contract enabling them to make social security 

contributions as well as receive a monthly remuneration based 

on the practical work done in the company. Those students 

who successfully complete the three academic years of this 

educational model have the possibility to join the workforce with 

an open-ended contract, something that provides proof positive 

of SEAT’s commitment to the future of the younger generations.

The application process at the Apprentices School reached 

record heights with a total number of 1,200 applications being 

received – 180% more than the previous year– for the 75 

places on offer. This figure highlights the interest in the new 

apprenticeship course and confirms the attractiveness among 

young students of the dual vocational training scheme format. 

Catalan government (Generalitat) officially recognises SEAT’s dual vocational training system. 

BASIC 
WORKFORCE
AT DECEMBER 31

11,458

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

10,369

11,46511,394
10,354
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BASIC WORKFORCE 
STRUCTURE BY EDUCATIONAL 
QUALIFICATIONS

BASIC WORKFORCE  
STRUCTURE BY AGE

Over 50
8.0%

Risk-prevention campaign.

Social structure of basic workforce   
at December 31	  
	 		   		

2013 2012

Average age Years 39.9 39.0

Average seniority in company Years 13.4 12.8

Proportion of women Percentage 21.4 21.4

Proportion of university-educated employees Percentage 15.3 14.0

Proportion of employees from outside Spain  Percentage 2.7 2.9

Proportion of employees with disabilities Percentage 2.2 1.9

Proportion of employees with long-term contracts Percentage 99.0 98.8

Proportion of employees on training programmes Percentage  81.3 85.4

41-50
38.5%

31-40
42.4%

Up to 30
11.1%

COST CONTAINMENT

In January, because of the effect of 

market weakness on the company’s 

financial situation, company 

management and all trade unions 

(UGT, CCOO and CGT) agreed to 

implement internal flexibility 

measures so as to reduce the excess 

costs of indirect personnel. Thus, 

in addition to suspending hiring of 

indirect personnel, an agreement was 

reached on a 60% volume reduction of 

the hours pool and the full application 

of compensatory rest per industrial 

day throughout the year. 

In July, so as to tailor the production 

lines to the situation in the markets, 

SEAT and most trade unions (UGT 

and CCOO) signed an agreement 

concerning the temporary suspension 

of employment. The agreement, 

reached after exhausting all internal 

flexibility measures provided for in the 

Collective Agreement, in fact affected 

fewer workers than had been initially 

foreseen, and included a social plan 

so as to minimize the effects of the 

temporary suspension of employment. 

The year ended with a new agreement 

between the company and the majority 

trade unions (UGT and CCOO) to reduce 

the workforce by 201 employees, 

most of whom occupied management 

positions and posts of responsibility. 

The accord reduced by half the number 

of employees initially affected by 

the termination plan presented in 

November for economic reasons with 

the aim of reducing indirect personnel 

costs. The agreement, which includes 

a relocation scheme, minimizes the 

effects of the adjustment plan, and 

School-leaving 
Certificate

36.3%

VT Medium 
level

23.4%

VT Higher 
level

25.0%

University
15.3%
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Tribute to workers of 25, 30 and 40 years seniority. 

The commitment 
of employees 
to the company 
and its future, in 
addition to their 
loyalty to SEAT, 
were once again 
rewarded at the 
events organised 
to recognize 
seniority in the 
company

includes social measures offering a 

substantial improvement on current 

legal requirements. The accord also 

provides for other voluntary measures, 

such as unpaid leave and voluntary 

redundancy for indirect personnel – i.e. 

those employees not directly involved 

in the production process. 

PREVENTION, AN 
INVESTMENT PRIORITY

As in previous years, employees’ health 

and welfare was one of the company’s 

major priorities. In this sphere, great 

emphasis was placed  

on health awareness-raising  

and promotion campaigns. The 

company provided employees with 

services such as ergonomy tests, 

allergy-detection tests, vaccinations 

and sleep studies. So too with  

risk- and accident-prevention 

campaigns in the sphere of production, 

concerning the handling of chemicals 

or dangerous machinery, coupled with 

specific training for supervisors. 

Action on another issue which 

came to prominence in 2013 was 

the awareness-raising campaign 

on health-related problems such 

as smoking; here SEAT provided 

employees with medical advice and 

help on how to give up the habit. 

Coupled with this was the World Day 

for Safety and Health at Work, as well 

as the usual medical check-ups and 

permanent health services coverage. 

RECOGNITION OF 
SENIORITY

The commitment of employees to the 

company and its future, in addition to 

their loyalty to SEAT, were once again 

rewarded at the events organised to 

recognize seniority in the company. 

Barcelona’s Auditorio concert hall 

provided the backdrop for the tributes 

paid by SEAT to the devotion of those 

workers who had spent 25, 30 and 40 

years with the company. 

The events drew the largest number 

of attendees ever, attracting 3,000 

people including those paid tribute to 

and those accompanying them. One of 

the most noteworthy aspects was the 

excellent organization of the events, 

since dozens of people – all company 

employees – offered their services 

disinterestedly on a voluntary basis.



3.6
CORPORATE  
SOCIAL  

RESPONSIBILITY



WE ARE 
SUSTAINABLE
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Sustainability and Corporate Social 

Responsibility (CSR) together make up 

an integral part of SEAT’s vision of the 

future, and embrace multiple goals 

in the three key areas of the social, 

the environmental and economic 

spheres. These goals are cross-cutting 

and interconnected, in such a way 

as to make the internal and external 

aspects sustainable over time. After 

the creation of a Sustainability 

Committee, as in the case of the other 

Volkswagen Group brands, SEAT is 

working actively on its CSR strategy to 

contribute to the goals as defined by 

the Group. 

In the social sphere, the company 

carries out different activities 

aimed at encouraging employment, 

continuous training and professional 

development of recently-graduated 

university-level talent, the active 

participation of its employees, 

equality amongst its workforce, and 

social responsibility via donations and 

sponsorship. 

The environment is another priority 

to which SEAT has shown its 

commitment, by means of increasing 

efficient management to minimize the 

environmental impact of its processes 

and products throughout the entire 

value chain. 

Finally, in the economic sphere the 

company carries out intense work 

enabling it to maintain an efficient 

system of good governance, as well 

as assuring customer satisfaction and 

supplier sustainability. 

SOCIAL ACTIVITIES

StartUp Europe

In the midst of a difficult economic 

situation, SEAT reaffirmed its 

commitment to offering young people 

professional opportunities. In this 

sphere, the company has gradually 

welcomed new groups of engineers via 

the StartUp Europe programme, which 

guarantees training and employment for 

two years, and makes a commitment to 

harnessing the talent of young Spanish 

engineers.

In order to take part in this programme, 

prospective candidates need to have 

qualifications in a specialist field of 

Higher Engineering (achieved within 

the past two years), have a very good 

command of German, and readiness to 

Young Spanish engineers form part of the StartUp Europe programme. 
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move to Germany. After a three-month 

period of training and work at the 

Martorell facilities, the young Spanish 

engineers finish their two-year contract 

at one of the major Volkswagen Group 

centres in Germany.

Labour Satisfaction 
Improvement

Creating a positive working atmosphere, 

sustainable over time, that contributes 

to greater worker satisfaction is an 

overarching priority for the company. 

For this reason, SEAT started up 

the fifth edition of the Labour 

Satisfaction Improvement survey, 

an already-consolidated process 

within the company and common 

to all Volkswagen Group brands, in 

which employees can manifest their 

opinion through an anonymous and 

voluntary survey. The answers enable 

the company to gather information 

concerning those aspects that can 

be improved in order to create a 

better working environment, through 

the implementation of proposals 

for improvement on which mutual 

agreement is reached. 

Ideas for Improvement 
Programme

SEAT’s commitment to the creativity and 

imagination of its workers is channeled 

through the Ideas for Improvement 

programme. All told, throughout 2013, 

21,989 ideas were received, resulting in 

savings amounting to 5.7 million euros. 

Additionally, to encourage participation 

among the workforce, a competition 

was organized in which employees 

had to present ideas that could be 

implemented and generate savings; 

by way of recognition, they could live a 

SEAT experience by participating in the 

presentation of the new Leon SC. 

Children’s Christmas Drawing 
Competition

To encourage staff involvement in SEAT, 

the now-traditional children’s Christmas 

drawing competition was once again 

held. Designed to encourage the 

creative skills of the younger generation, 

it was aimed at staff members’ children 

and grandchildren. The only required 

conditions for participation in this event 

were creativity and ingenuity. 

SEAT Cup

Sport also had its place in the shape 

of the SEAT Cup, a competition that 

attracted the attention of some 1,300 

Programmes developed to motivate employees increase SEAT’s attractiveness as employer. 
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employees. The company made a 

substantial effort to organize this 

football tournament, which was given 

a great reception, promotes teamwork, 

as well as healthy competition and 

motivation. 

Equality plan

On the occasion of International 

Women’s Day, SEAT’s Committee for 

Equality Plan organized a gender 

equality competition among the entire 

workforce entitled ‘Gender equality 

at SEAT is…’. The event aimed to raise 

awareness amongst SEAT employees of 

the company’s Equality Plan, designed 

with the purpose of promoting the 

defence and effective implementation 

of the principle of equality between men 

and women, as well as guaranteeing 

equal opportunities and development at 

all levels in the world of work.  

The Plan comprises a total number 

of 40 measures grouped together 

in different thematic areas: Access 

to Employment, Training, and 

Development or Promotion. Amongst 

other features, it highlights preference 

in hiring and promotion of the least 

represented gender in each area, other 

merits and experience being equal; 

the conciliation measures already 

provided for in the 18th Collective 

Members of the SEAT Equality Committee. 

SEAT defends and implements the principle of equality between men and women. 
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Agreement, as well as those referring 

to gender violence, an area where legal 

assistance mechanisms are described 

in particular detail.  

Social responsibility

The Christmas campaign to gather 

non-perishable food and toys for 

the Spanish Red Cross was the most 

outstanding example of solidarity of 

all the initiatives aimed at facilitating 

employee participation. This initiative 

– entitled ‘We are SEAT, we show 

Solidarity’, workers showed for the 

second year their most charitable 

side, with donations of food, cleaning 

and hygiene products, and toys. The 

company added its own financial 

contribution to this initiative, urging all 

its suppliers to join the campaign. 

Employees participating in the SEAT Cup 

2013 also offered a gesture of solidarity 

towards the Catalan Sports Federation 

for the Blind (FCECS) by donating 

150 sets of sports equipment used 

throughout the competition. 

Christmas collection campaign  
of food and toys. Donation of vehicles to publicly-owned vocational training centres. 

In its commitment to dual vocational 

training, pioneered by SEAT in Spain, 

the company donated 28 vehicles, 

either new or in perfect working order, 

to publicly-owned training centres. The 

cars, exhibited in different motor shows 

or else produced for the needs of 

specific markets, are used by students 

as working and apprenticeship tools.  

Donation of sports equipment to non-sighted members of the FCECS.
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-25%

Data monitoring 
and control

Responsible use 
of washing water

  4  WASTE TREATMENT
/ Use of easily-recyclable packaging and 
   increase in waste separation bays for re-use

/ Waste reduction in production, e.g. paint slurry 

EMPLOYEES TRAINING AND 
COMMUNICATION PLAN
/  Dissemination of ECOMOTIVE FACTORY project
/  Environmental protection awareness-raising and training
/  Encouragement of ideas for improvement

GOAL 2018

Reduction of energy, water, 
emissions of CO2 and VOCs, 
plus generation of waste 
per car manufactured

-25%

-25%

-25%

-25%

Ensuring isolation and 
air-tightness to 
avoid energy loss

EUROENERGEST PROGRAMME
Weather-forecast-based smart system with 
capacity to monitor and predict internal energy 
generation necessary for plant air-conditioning, 
depending on demand and on the basis of the
metereological prediction
 

CO2

Waste reduction and re-use Achieve environmentally-
sustainable and 
reduced-impact 
production

2 WATER CONSUMPTION
/ Savings and re-use in 
   industrial processes

/ Improvement of water quality 
   in processes to reduce 
   consumption

1 ENERGY CONSUMPTION
/ Reduction of energy consumption 
   in workshops and facilities 

/ Improvement in manufacturing 
   processes, with more efficient 
   ventilation, lighting, heating and 
   air-conditioning systems    

3 CO  EMISSIONS
/ Purchase of green energy

/ Use of renewable energy sources (SEAT al Sol 
   project) plus high-efficiency energy generation 
   (combined Heat & Power plant)

/ On-line data-logging and indicator monitoring to 
   adjust consumption and reduce emissions 
 
          

2

/ Use of new more 
   eco-friendly components 
   in painting processes 

/ Reduction of VOCs* 
   by change in spray 
   application technology

5 SOLVENT EMISSIONS

2010 - 2018

* Volatile Organic Compounds

-25%

ECOMOTIVE FACTORY

ENVIRONMENTAL 
ACTIVITIES

Processes

In 2013 the company implemented the 

ECOMOTIVE FACTORY project, which 

groups together all environmental 

activities related to production 

processes. The project’s goal is to make 

our car manufacturing a benchmark 

for environmental protection by 2018. 

To achieve this, various industrial 

initiatives have been implemented 

enabling a 25% reduction in energy 

and water consumption, CO
2
 emissions 

and volatile compounds, as well 

as waste generation. Additionally 

a communication and awareness-

raising plan has been designed for 

all employees so as to promote the 

rational use of resources as well as good 

environmental practices. 

The ECOMOTIVE FACTORY initiative 

embraces noteworthy actions including 

improvements in energy efficiency and 

consumption control, a reduction in the 

content of volatile organic compounds in 

paint, and their elimination from the waxes 

of vehicle moving parts. Measures have 

also been introduced for waste reduction 

at source (for example in paint slurry), 

for the re-use of production waste, as 

well as diverse initiatives to reduce water 

consumption in production processes. 

Aware of its responsibility towards 

society at large, the company uses 

the best techniques and most 

groundbreaking technologies in its 

production process. Some of the most 

significant activities throughout the year 

have been the installation of maglev 

compressors on the water coolers 

providing air-conditioning for the 

workshops, as well as the incorporation 

of a heat-recovery unit in the chimney of 

the heat-and-power generation facility 

to increase its efficiency. SEAT also 

participated in the R&D+i EuroEnergest 

project, included in the European 

Union’s 7th Framework Programme. Its 

aim is to develop software capable of 

optimizing generation of and demand 
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-25%

Data monitoring 
and control

Responsible use 
of washing water

  4  WASTE TREATMENT
/ Use of easily-recyclable packaging and 
   increase in waste separation bays for re-use

/ Waste reduction in production, e.g. paint slurry 

EMPLOYEES TRAINING AND 
COMMUNICATION PLAN
/  Dissemination of ECOMOTIVE FACTORY project
/  Environmental protection awareness-raising and training
/  Encouragement of ideas for improvement

GOAL 2018

Reduction of energy, water, 
emissions of CO2 and VOCs, 
plus generation of waste 
per car manufactured

-25%

-25%

-25%

-25%

Ensuring isolation and 
air-tightness to 
avoid energy loss

EUROENERGEST PROGRAMME
Weather-forecast-based smart system with 
capacity to monitor and predict internal energy 
generation necessary for plant air-conditioning, 
depending on demand and on the basis of the
metereological prediction
 

CO2

Waste reduction and re-use Achieve environmentally-
sustainable and 
reduced-impact 
production

2 WATER CONSUMPTION
/ Savings and re-use in 
   industrial processes

/ Improvement of water quality 
   in processes to reduce 
   consumption

1 ENERGY CONSUMPTION
/ Reduction of energy consumption 
   in workshops and facilities 

/ Improvement in manufacturing 
   processes, with more efficient 
   ventilation, lighting, heating and 
   air-conditioning systems    

3 CO  EMISSIONS
/ Purchase of green energy

/ Use of renewable energy sources (SEAT al Sol 
   project) plus high-efficiency energy generation 
   (combined Heat & Power plant)

/ On-line data-logging and indicator monitoring to 
   adjust consumption and reduce emissions 
 
          

2

/ Use of new more 
   eco-friendly components 
   in painting processes 

/ Reduction of VOCs* 
   by change in spray 
   application technology

5 SOLVENT EMISSIONS

2010 - 2018

* Volatile Organic Compounds

-25%

for energy for air-conditioning, aiming to 

reduce consumption by 10%.

The company has also created ‘SEAT al 

Sol’ – the largest photovoltaic facility 

in the automotive world. This facility 

comprises 52,827 solar panels, with 

a total nominal power output of 10.6 

MW, covering an area of 276,000 m2 

on the rooftops of six workshops 

and four holding areas for vehicles 

awaiting shipment. During its first year 

of full production it generated a total 

amount of 17,629,086 kWh, 18% more 

than was initially envisaged, and the 

equivalent of eliminating more than 

8,000 tonnes of CO
2 
emissions per year. 

Additionally, SEAT has a green energy 

supply contract guaranteeing that this 

kind of energy comes from sources 

certified as 100% renewable or high-

efficiency heat-and-power generation, 

thus eliminating emissions of CO
2
 and 

other polluting gases. 

All the company’s centres hold 

environmental and energy management 

certifications, in compliance with 

standards ISO 14.001 and ISO 

50.001, proof of measures taken 

and commitment to environmental 

protection and energy efficiency. During 

2013 the ISO 14.001 environmental 

certification for the Zona Franca plant 

was renewed for the third consecutive 

time. 
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life-cycle of the new Leon was carried 

out for the first time. This tool studies 

and assesses the environmental 

impacts of the vehicle during all stages 

of its life (the so-called ‘cradle-to-

grave’ process), embracing extraction 

of raw material, transport, production, 

distribution, use and end-of-life 

processing (recycling, recovery and 

landfill disposal). One of the more 

remarkable results is an 11% reduction 

in greenhouse gas emissions, one of 

the major culprits of climate change, 

whose value is expressed in units of 

Product

In 2013 SEAT published the 

environmental folder (Umweltmappe) 

of the new Leon, based on the common 

environmental goals – ‘Climate 

protection, Resource conservation and 

Health protection’ – of the brand and 

the Volkswagen Group. This folder is an 

instrument for monitoring and following 

up the most relevant environmental 

information of the new model in 

comparison with its predecessors. 

Additionally, an analysis of the  

CO2
 equivalent – 23.5 tonnes for the 

new Leon in comparison with 26.5 

tonnes for the previous version. 

SEAT concentrates its efforts on 

reducing the CO
2
 emissions of its entire 

range of vehicles. The Mii 1.0 MPI 

Ecofuel Ecomotive, launched in 2012, 

continues to be a benchmark vehicle 

for the market, and boasts the lowest 

emissions (79 g/km) in the range. 

The launch of the new Leon 1.6 TDI CR 

110 hp Ecomotive at the end of 2013 

established a landmark due to its low 

ENGINES

CO
2 
emissions reduced by 15% on average

New families of TSI and TDI engines reduce fuel consumption

Weight reduced by up to 30%

Acoustic improvements in all engines 

START&STOP
Technology with energy 
recovery is incorporated into 
most engines

PROMOTING ECO-DRIVING

BCmE (Body Computer mit Effizienzanzeige) 
Electronic assistance system to promote more 
efficient driving. A series of tips (Eco-Tips) provide 
details of consumption at all times 

AERODYNAMICS

Aerodynamic drag reduced by 10% 

Improved engine cooling flow 

TYRES

Low rolling resistance

Natural rubber

TRANSMISSION

Incorporates a new function in the recovery 
system, encoded in the ECO profile 

The transmission is 1.7 kg lighter

SEAT Drive Profile 
The various drive configurations alter the vehicle’s 
behaviour. The ECO profile promotes a driving style 
that respects the environment 

GREENER SEAT LEON FOR
 climate protection 

  resource conservation 

 health protection

INTEGRAL LED HEADLIGHTS

New LED daytime driving lights 
increase the service life of the dipped 
beam headlights

Elimination of mercury



133

CO
2
 emissions (just 85 g/km), making 

it the lowest-emission vehicle in its 

segment. The remainder of the brand’s 

models also have Ecomotive  

low-emission versions – the Ibiza 

and Ibiza ST (88), Toledo (99), Altea 

and Altea  XL (111) and Alhambra 

(143). Thus, the efficiency of models 

marketed meant that 60% of those 

produced in 2013 for the EU28 market 

had CO2
 emissions below 120 g/km.

INTERIOR AIR QUALITY

Interior and materials designed 
to generate low emissions  

In heavily polluted 
environments, a sensor 
temporarily closes the air vents 
in the passenger compartment

AIR CONDITIONING

A new humidity sensor reduces consumption by 
disconnecting the compressor when it is not required, 
thus reducing fuel consumption by 0.05 l/100 km 
with this feature 

THE PRODUCTION PROCESS, ALSO GREENER

Power consumption reduced to 4.3 kWh/vehicle by modifying 
the welding process

Pneumatic clamps used in the previous Leon replaced with 
electric clamps. Consumption reduced in almost 100%

Usage of PVC reduced by up to 92% and, hence, use of solvents 
cut by up to 91%

ACOUSTICS

Reduction in the levels of interior and 
exterior noise

Soundproofing with up to 20% recycled 
cotton

EXHAUST

Built-in silencers

Volume and weight optimised to 
reduce fuel consumption 

REDUCTION IN TOTAL WEIGHT

The new Leon SC is lighter than the 
previous model by up to 110 kg

This has been possible essentially 
thanks to the hot-stamping 
technology, optimisation of steel 
thicknesses, the use of tailored blanks 
and the use of alternative materials

MATERIALS

Renewables 
The weight of materials from 
renewable sources can reach 12 kg

Less lead 
Despite the increase in electronic
circuits, the quantity of lead has
been reduced by 18%

Elimination of 100% of lead in
component solder connections PCB, 
radios and Climatronic

Air flow 
optimised in the 
underfloor

DOORS

Weight cut by reducing 
thickness 11.6 kg

FRONT WHEEL WELLS

Front wheel wells and underfloor 
covering made of 100% recycled  
PP (Polypropylene)

Soundproofing made of  
PET (Polyethylene terephthalate) felt

WHEEL

Weight of steel wheels reduced  
by 1.6 kg, manufactured using 
flow forming technology

 
 

BODY

Weight reduction 12%

Increased strength 9%
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ECONOMIC 
ENVIRONMENT 

SEAT meets its Corporate Social 

Responsibility from an economic  

point of view via three basic pillars  

– a system of Good Governance based 

on Risk Management and efficient 

Compliance, customer satisfaction 

and sustainability in relations with 

suppliers. 

Good Governance, Risk 
Management and Compliance

From an economic view in today’s 

market, business sustainability cannot 

be properly understood without good 

corporate governance. To achieve 

success, it is necessary to consolidate 

a culture of management of strategic, 

operational and compliance-related 

business risks, based on systematic 

prevention and control at the core of 

the entire company and its workforce. 

The Governance, Risk Management & 

Compliance (GRC) team encourages 

knowledge and awareness of acting in 

line with this culture so as to contribute 

to transparency in business dealings 

and greater operational efficacy. 

Risk management forms part of the 

company’s day-to-day operations. 

Because of this, all business areas 

SEAT promotes 
sustainability 

throughout its 
entire supply chain.  
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identify their own risks, assess their 

scope, provide detailed measures 

to mitigate them and carry out 

controls to ensure their effectiveness. 

On this issue, the GRC team both 

designs and offers to the different 

areas methods and systems for the 

appropriate management of their risks 

and controls, accompanied by the 

necessary advice in these matters. 

With the aim of reinforcing the 

operational model of risk management, 

a set of guidelines based on the risk 

management and internal controls 

international framework  (COSO II) has 

been published in 2013; they establish 

a common language and help the 

different areas to manage risks both 

systematically and in a standardized 

fashion. 

SEAT’s Board of Directors and Executive 

Committee receive information 

concerning risk management within the 

company thanks to the GRC process, 

coordinated by the Risk Management 

team. Via this process, information 

is provided of the main risks in the 

business areas, the measures taken 

to prevent and mitigate them, and 

the degree of effectiveness of internal 

controls. 

The company attaches particular 

importance to risks related to 

compliance with legal requirements 

risks, and the Compliance department 

has the specific mission to consolidate 

a culture of compliance among all 

employees. This culture bases its 

efficacy on the participation of all 

SEAT meets its Corporate Social 
Responsibility from an economic 
point of view via three basic pillars  
– a system of Good Governance based 
on Risk Management, customer 
satisfaction and sustainability in 
relations with suppliers

Customer satisfaction surveys help to improve quality in service. 

company areas in those training and 

information schemes organized in 

relation to legal compliance risks, 

on the carrying out of their activities 

based on the principles and duties 

contained in the Code of Conduct of the 

SEAT Group, and on independent risk 

management. 

Over the course of 2013 greater 

awareness was generated amongst 

employees concerning the significance 

of Compliance, thanks to meetings 

held with the different areas to discuss 

their legal compliance risks. Systematic 
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participation of the Compliance 

team in the day-to-day operations 

of the company so as to cooperate 

in the management of specific legal 

compliance risks linked to the activities 

of each department also made a 

positive contribution to this awareness.

This management process has enabled 

the identification of the following risks 

inherent in SEAT’s own activities, inter 

alia:

/ �Economic and sector-specific risks: 

the automotive industry is going 

through manifold difficulties deriving 

from the world economic situation. 

SEAT is cushioning the effects of the 

crisis by means of extending and 

updating its product range, coupled 

with internationalization through the 

opening up and development of new 

markets.  

/ �Demand-related risks: due to 

increasing – and increasingly 

aggressive – competition in the 

sector, and in order to deal with 

issues of changes in customer 

preferences, the company carries 

out continuous analysis of its 

competitors and implements 

customer-targeted campaigns, 

studying their requirements and 

adapting to them so as to guarantee 

satisfaction.  

/ ��Operational risks: the development 

of highly complex technology 

products entails quality risks. To avoid 

those risks, controls are set up and 

continuous follow-up implemented. 

Additionally, production capacity 

may be affected by different events 

at all stages of production. The 

company closely monitors all phases 

of manufacture and has put in place 

contingency plans to deal with diverse 

events such as fires or energy outages.

/ �Human resources risks: to successfully 

meet the eventual challenges and 

achieve demanding levels of technical 

innovation, SEAT has a workforce of 

multi-skilled professionals. Aware 

that this is one of the most important 

activities for it to reach its objectives, 

the company pays special attention 

to the continuous training of its 

employees in the shape of specific 

plans. 

/  �Financial risks: these are meticulously 

monitored both in the short and long 

term, and are dealt with by means 

Identification of potential risks enables mitigation of their impact.
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of continuous analysis and financial 

instruments helping to mitigate 

the adverse effects on the financial 

profitability of the company. A more 

detailed account is provided in 

section 8b of the Annual Accounts 

Report. 

/  �Legal compliance risks: the risks of 

non-compliance with applicable legal 

requirements in day-to-day work 

are numerous. With the intention of 

managing these risks, the Compliance 

department designs prevention 

programmes for company areas on 

training, information, consultation, 

and advice concerning legislation 

affecting the company and its 

employees; in 2013 the emphasis 

was placed on competition law. 

Thus the company is in line with 

the growing importance given to 

the development of this kind of 

compliance programmes in the 

international business world. 

Customers

Ensuring customer satisfaction is 

crucial to achieving recommendation 

of and loyalty to the brand and the 

dealer representing it. The definition 

of the commercial processes, selection 

and training of dealer staff are all key 

elements to ensure that the entire 

experience of the customer is highly 

satisfactory. 

Constant measuring of the degree of 

satisfaction of our customers through 

different types of studies enables us 

to identify areas for improvement. 

Although the level of satisfaction is 

already high, we work continuously 

in close collaboration with the dealer 

network for further improvement. 

One of the most important measures 

we take regularly, in addition to 

carrying out satisfaction surveys 

throughout the year, is Mystery 

Shopping. This type of programme 

is useful for assessment of the sales 

process at dealers and evaluation of 

customer services in a discrete and 

professional manner. 

Suppliers

Activities developed with suppliers in 

the sphere of sustainability are focused 

on informing them of the obligation 

to comply with Group requirements in 

social, legal, health, work safety and 

environmental matters, with the aim 

of achieving balanced and sustainable 

development of companies working 

with the Volkswagen Group. 

 

The annual Sustainability in Supplier 

Relations Meeting was held in 

November. The meeting venue was 

at SEAT for the first time, and all 

Volkswagen Group brands participated. 

The holding of these annual meetings 

enables the sharing of experiences so 

as to improve implementation of the 

process of sustainability and adapt it 

to the real needs of the sector and its 

suppliers. 

Brand models comply with the most stringent quality standards. 
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3.7
GOVERNMENTAL 

AND INSTITUTIONAL 
RELATIONS
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WE ARE 
RESPONSIBLE



Visit by engineering students of the ETSEIB.

SEAT officially opens the automotive industry’s largest solar panel plant. 

INSTITUTIONAL ACTIVITY

Greater empowerment accorded to the area of Governmental 

and Institutional Relations (GIR) within the company enabled 

SEAT to raise its profile vis-à-vis public and private institutions 

both nationally and internationally. Likewise, the area is also 

responsible for institutional representation of the Volkswagen 

Group in Spain. 

Throughout the year frequent contacts and meetings were 

held with representatives of the European Union, the Spanish 

central government as well as the main institutions of the 

automotive industry, to discuss strategic issues, especially 

matters concerning  legislative processes affecting the 

interests of the SEAT brand and the Volkswagen Group, as well 

as the automotive sector, in Spain. 

In the international sphere, SEAT continued to reinforce its 

institutional presence. Thus, in March Miguel Ángel de Frutos, 

Spanish ambassador to Switzerland, was guest of honour 

at the Geneva International Motor Show, where the brand 

presented its new Leon SC. Later in September Pablo García-

Berdoy, Spanish ambassador to Germany, was the brand’s 

guest of honour at the Frankfurt Motor Show, venue for the 

international presentation of the new Leon ST. 

At home, SEAT encouraged visits to its production centres and 

motor shows, so as to bring society closer to the automotive 

industry. Noteworthy in this respect, due to its importance, 

was the visit by Mariano Rajoy, President of the Spanish 

government, together with Artur Mas, head of the Catalan 

government (Generalitat) to the brand’s stand at the Barcelona 

Motor Show. 

Spain’s Interior Minister, Jorge Fernández Díaz, visited 

the Martorell production facility and, together with Jürgen 

Stackmann, Chairman of SEAT’s Executive Committee, 

presided over the official opening ceremony of the 

SEAT al Sol project, the largest solar panel facility in the 

automotive industry. Irene Rigau, the Catalan government’s 

SEAT Offices at Madrid’s 
Torre de Cristal.
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President of the Spanish government Mariano Rajoy, and Catalan government head Artur Mas visit the SEAT stand at the Barcelona Motor Show. 

Left to right (foreground): Dr. Francisco Javier García Sanz, Chairman of SEAT Board of Directors; Mariano Rajoy, 
President of the Spanish government; Artur Mas, head of Catalan government (Generalitat). 
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Minister for Education, also visited SEAT’s facilities on the 

occasion of the donation of vehicles to publicly-owned 

vocational training centres, further proof of the company’s 

commitment to this training model and its close links with 

the Catalan government (Generalitat). Another noteworthy 

visit to the Martorell facilities was that of the Board of 

Directors and Patrons’ Committee of the French Chamber 

of Commerce in Barcelona. The company also maintained 

close links with academic institutions, presenting its 

projects in the training sphere, exemplified by the visit of 

the Association of Alumni of the Barcelona Business School 

Iese and also industrial engineering students from the 

Polytechnic University of Barcelona.

SEAT also maintains a clear commitment to increasing its 

presence at Spanish public and private institutions by means 

of reinforcing its policy concerning vehicle fleets and  

hand-overs. Noteworthy here are the efforts and contacts 

made in collaboration with the Commercial area, which  

have enabled the progressive incorporation of different  

SEAT models to institutional fleets.

The brand continued to increase its presence in the Outreach 

Services, an example being the hand-over of an Alhambra 

to Ambassador Juan Manuel Barandica, Spain’s Permanent 

Representative to UNESCO.

As regards business fleets, noteworthy purchases were the 

Exeo model by the Spanish General Directorate of Traffic, as 

well as the Ibiza and Altea Freetrack models by the Spanish 

Red Cross, in addition to the Barcelona Port Authority. 

The project of hand-overs of plug-in hybrid and electric 

vehicles to company and institutional fleets continued 

throughout 2013. New agreements were reached with the 

Community of Madrid, the city council of Madrid, the Spanish 

utility company Iberdrola and the Port of Barcelona, amongst 

others. Likewise, a strategic agreement was signed with Gas 

Natural Fenosa to develop and boost the use of compressed 

natural gas (CNG) in the automotive sector in Spain; a unit of 

the Mii Ecofuel, the brand’s first vehicle running on this fuel, 

was also handed over to the Port of Barcelona. 

SEAT hands over 17 vehicles to Spanish Red Cross. 

The Port of Barcelona and SEAT collaborate in matters of electromobility. 

SEAT hands over 39 units of the Exeo model to the Spanish GDT. 

The Community of Madrid puts the Altea XL 
Electric Ecomotive to the test.
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BUSINESS ACTIVITY

In close collaboration with the SEAT Technical Centre, the GIR 

area analyzed the new regulations published in 2013 and their 

impact on the company’s activity, enabling the company to 

defend its business position in relation to diverse associations, 

institutions and ministries. 

SEAT participated actively in the definition of the new 

organisational model for ANFAC (Spanish National Association 

of Car and Truck Manufacturers), providing the necessary 

momentum to enable other Volkswagen Group brands in Spain 

to participate in the Association. Additionally, via the different 

ANFAC committees, the company contributed towards the 

definition of a common approach to the various salient issues 

within the sector. 

With the goal of contributing to and improving the 

competitiveness of the local automotive industry, SEAT is a 

founding member and active promoter of the Automotive 

Industry Cluster of Catalonia. Likewise, the company plays 

a major role in the Club of Excellence in Sustainability, 

so as to boost sustainable development by means of the 

implementation of best business practices in the social, 

economic and environmental spheres. 

With the goal of 
contributing to 
and improving the 
competitiveness of 
the local automotive 
industry, SEAT is a 
founding member and 
active promoter of the 
Automotive Industry 
Cluster of Catalonia

Event for constitution of new Catalan Automotive Industry Cluster. 

SEAT and Iberdrola work together on electromobility.
SEAT and Gas Natural Fenosa boost the use 

of natural gas in the automotive sector.

143



3.8
FINANCIAL  

ACTIVITY



WE ARE 
PRECISE
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ECONOMIC 
ENVIRONMENT

2013 was a year of highs and lows, in 

which economic recovery was sluggish 

and unevenly distributed throughout 

the different regions and countries 

of the world. Japanese and American 

economies grew thanks to the strong 

financial support provided by their 

governments, while emerging countries 

(BRICs) reached lower indices than 

initially foreseen. The most hoped-for 

and wished-for news was consolidation 

of the Chinese market avoiding a drastic 

fall-off in its activity.

Political instability hampered the 

economic activity in the Middle East 

and North  Africa (MENA) entailing a 

significant reduction in their excellent 

growth prospects. Continuous 

investment in infrastructures, increasing 

production capacity as well as 

major energy reserves coupled with 

high consumption potential due to 

demographic structure have turned 

this area into a new zone of emerging 

countries with high development 

potential.  

The defining feature in Europe, and 

especially in the Eurozone, was 

economic stagnation, as a result of 

weak internal demand and the loss 

of share in world exports. Southern 

European countries continued to 

show weakness because of lack of 

growth while being subjected to 

the pressure of the necessary fiscal 

austerity measures to contain growing 

public debt and thus achieve the aim 

of deficit reduction. Nonetheless, 

the measures implemented helped 

to strengthen and consolidate the 

common project of the Eurozone, 

as well as increase international 

confidence in those economies 

hardest hit by the crisis.

In Spain, the government’s reforming 

agenda centred on the labour market 

– via adaptation of agreements and 

compensation rules – and the financial 

system via capitalisation of banks. The 

measures adopted enabled a reduction 

in labour costs and stabilisation of 

inflation, which in turn led to increased 

competitiveness via the internal 

devaluation of salaries and prices. The 
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strength of the foreign sector, thanks 

to a continuous increase in exports and 

tourism, acted as a driving force  

for recovery.

The first signs of this improvement 

were seen in the year’s third quarter, 

with the achievement of a marginal 

inter-quarter growth of GDP. After 27 

months of uninterrupted downturn, 

the end of the technical recession 

coincided with an appreciable increase 

in international confidence and a 

strong drop in the risk premium for 

Spanish borrowing. In spite of all this 

the Spanish economy ended the year 

with negative growth numbers. 

AUTOMOTIVE SECTOR

In this difficult economic environment, 

the European automotive sector once 

more showed its weakness by reducing 

production and registration levels, while 

other zones such as NAFTA, Central/

South America, and  Asia/Oceania 

improved their results against last year.

Volume fall in Europe, especially in the 

three big markets (Germany, France 

and Italy) was only partially offset by 

an increase in the United Kingdom and 

Spain’s change of trend in the second 

half of the year.  

So as to cushion the effect of the strong 

downturn in car sales in Spain, on the 

back of the economic crisis, in January 

2013 the Spanish government launched 

PIVE 2, the second Programme of 

Incentives for Vehicle Efficiency, with 

resources of 150 million euros. Because 

of unexpectedly strong demand from 

private owners, these resources were 

used up before the expected date, 

and so in June the Spanish government 

decided to extend the initiative (PIVE 3) 

and provide a further 70 million euros 

in funding. By the end of October this 

extension fund had also been used 

up, and the government agreed on a 

further extension (PIVE 4) with resources 

amounting to another 70 million euros. 

Thanks to these stimuli and to the 

increase of exports, the automotive 

sector produced near 2,200,000 

vehicles and registered more than 

722,000 passenger cars  in 2013, an 

increase of 9.3% and 3.3% respectively 

over last year. In addition to the boost 

in sales, the unequivocal government 

support helped to slow down the 

continuous drop in volumes that had 

become a permanent feature of the 

sector since the beginning of  the crisis.

RESULTS

SEAT increased its net sales for the fourth 

time in a row, thanks to the commercial 

Exports driving force 
behind recovery. 
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launch of the new Leon family, coupled with good brand 

performance in European markets and emerging countries in 

North Africa and the Middle East. Growth in the domestic market 

(7.4%), and in export markets (6.1%), took total invoicing to 

6,472.9 million euros, 6.3% more than in 2012.

This major increase in sales did not translate into a 

proportional improvement in margins due to strong 

competition in the main European markets. Demand shifted to 

lower cost vehicles, and discount policies applied by brands 

to maintain sales levels had a penalising effect on efforts to 

optimize income. 	

SEAT was affected by this strong commercial competition, as well 

as high costs deriving from its major product offensive in the last 

two years. The launch of new models gave rise to an increase 

in commercial expenses, R&D+i resources, and depreciations 

which, coupled with the increase in personnel and energy costs, 

had a negative impact on the profit and loss statement. The sum 

total of all these effects meant that by the end of the financial 

year the company posted losses of 148.7 million euros. 

SEAT continues to devote substantial resources to its 

investment programme, focused mainly on launching new 

models and maintaining the competitiveness of the Martorell 

plant through improvements in processes, quality and 

productivity.  In 2013, 337.1 million euros were activated for 

these items in its balance sheet, taking the total amount to 

more than 2,000 million euros over the past five years. For 

this reason, the generating of sufficient internal resources so 

as to maintain further development of products and facilities, 

to raise brand profile and develop the sales and marketing 

network makes it necessary to consolidate a sound and 

sustainable economic and financial structure. 

With the aim of creating a more streamlined organization as well  

as guaranteeing its future profitability, SEAT has implemented an 

action plan based on three pillars – product, sales performance 

and business model. Its goal is to prioritize the production 

and sales of those models with a greater contribution margin, 

harnessing to the maximum degree synergies with the 

Volkswagen Group; to concentrate sales on those markets with 

greater contribution margins; and optimise both investments 

and costs. On these issues, and to balance expenses in relation 

to net sales, the aim is to reduce fixed costs (personnel and 

structure) and those deriving from external services. These 

actions will be complemented by cost-consciousness measures 

involving the entire workforce. 

Growth in the 
domestic market 
(7.4%), and  in export 
markets (6.1%), 
took total invoicing 
to 6,472.9 million 
euros, 6.3% more 
than in 2012

4,101.3

4,662.8
5,049.1

6,086.9

Net sales 
(millions of 

euros) 6,472.9

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

STRATEGY 
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PROCESSES

The company actively encourages the 

efficient management of processes 

in all its spheres of activity. The 

continuous improvement of financial 

systems and procedures optimizes 

the day-to-day management of the 

company, while facilitating relations 

between the company’s main 

stakeholders – employees, suppliers, 

customers and governments.

In 2013 SEAT implemented the flexible 

remuneration Activa tu Nómina 

(Activate your Payslip) scheme, 

with great success. This new tool, 

agreed on within the 18th Collective 

Agreement, means that kindergarten 

and health services can be purchased 

via a company web platform at special 

prices. Additionally, since fees are 

deducted directly from the monthly 

payslip – meaning that part of the 

salary is received in kind – employees 

can benefit from tax breaks when filling 

out annual tax returns.  

Another important milestone in 

the area of Finances was the 10th 

anniversary of the Administration’s 

Shared Service Center, which 

centralises the management of the 

departments of payrolls, accounting 

closures, current accounts and 

invoicing of the different companies in 

the SEAT Group. The fact of grouping 

together the tasks and specialisations 

of more than the 80 people involved 

means that synergies can be achieved 

in processes, systems and resources, 

thanks to economies of scale.

Lobby of Corporate Building in Martorell. 

Communication to the workforce of the flexible remuneration Activa tu Nómina programme. 

OTHER ISSUES

The company does not have on-going, 

and has not carried out, operations 

with own shares or with derivatives 

during the financial year.

No events have happened after the 

closure of the financial year that may 

have an effect on the annual accounts, 

except for what is mentioned in Note 

23 of the annual accounts.
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enjoy the road.

We call it:   
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4.2 �BALANCE SHEET
	 At December 31 (millions of euros)

Assets NOTE 2013 2012 

Non-current assets 3,251.7 3,390.0

Intangible assets 6b 639.0 739.5

Tangible assets 6c 1,128.1 1,118.2

Long-term Group companies investments 6d 1,121.6 1,114.4

Long-term financial investments 1.5 1.6

Deferred tax assets 18 361.5 416.3

Current assets 807.4 952.1

Inventories 9 279.9 331.5

Trade receivables and others 10 491.8 545.4

Short-term Group companies investments 11 34.1 74.8

Short-term financial investments 11 0.0 0.0

Short-term prepaid expenses 1.6 0.3

Cash and cash equivalents 0.0 0.1

Total 4,059.1 4,342.1

Equity and liabilities NOTE 2013 2012 

Equity 491.5 642.5

Shareholders’ equity 12 478.0 626.7

Subventions 13 13.5 15.8

Non-current liabilities 295.0 297.0

Long-term provisions 14 188.8 180.1

Long-term liabilities 15 84.4 88.5

Long-term Group companies liabilities 15 1.3 1.9

Deferred tax liabilities 18 12.4 24.0

Long-term prepaid income 8.1 2.5

Current liabilities 3,272.6 3,402.6

Short-term provisions 14 652.5 588.3

Short-term liabilities 15 67.1 44.8

Short-term Group companies liabilities 15 1,310.9 1,349.9

Trade payables and others 16 1,209.6 1,384.6

Short-term prepaid income 32.5 35.0

Total 4,059.1 4,342.1
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Appendix 1. Evolution of Non-current Assets 
� Appendix 2. Subsidiary Companies 4.3 ��PROFIT AND LOSS  

STATEMENT 
	J anuary 1 to December 31 (millions of euros)

Continuing operations Note 2013 2012 

Net sales 19a 6,472.9 6,086.9

Change in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 19b (37.5) (38.9)

Material, wages and overheads capitalized as assets 120.5 195.7

Supplies 19c (5,058.3) (4,728.1)

Other operating income 19d 454.4 412.9

Personnel costs 19e (587.0) (566.2)

Other operating expenses 19f (1,228.9) (1,312.4)

Depreciation of fixed assets 6a (336.5) (268.9)

Change of subventions from non-financial fixed assets and others 13 4.8 4.9

Excess of provisions 69.2 90.7

Impairment and result on disposal of fixed assets 6a (90.3) (10.9)

Operating result (216.7) (134.3)

Financial income 19g 85.5 96.7 

Financial expenses 19h (18.7) (21.0)

Exchange rate differences 17 (1.8) (29.1)

Impairment and result on disposal of financial instruments 19i 7.3 8.3 

Financial result  72.3 54.9 

Result before tax (144.4) (79.4)

Corporation tax 18 (4.3) 49.8 

Result for year (148.7) (29.6)
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4.4 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	 At December 31 (millions of euros) 

Statement of recognised income and expenses NOTE 2013 2012 

A) Result of profit and loss statement (148.7) (29.6)

For valuation of financial instruments 0.0 0.0

Financial assets available for sale 0.0 0.0

Other income/expenses 0.0 0.0

For coverage of cash flow 0.0 0.0

Subventions 13 1.4 5.3

For actuarial gains and losses and other adjustments 0.0 0.0

For non-current assets and linked liabilities, maintained for sale 0.0 0.0

Conversion differences 0.0 0.0

Taxation effect (0.4) (1.6)

B) Total income and expenses entered directly to equity 1.0 3.7

For valuation of financial instruments 0.0 0.0

Financial assets available for sale 0.0 0.0

Other income/expenses 0.0 0.0

For coverage of cash flow 0.0 0.0

Subventions 13 (4.8) (4.9)

For non-current assets and linked liabilities, maintained for sale 0.0 0.0

Conversion differences 0.0 0.0

Taxation effect 1.5 1.5

C) Total transfers to profit and loss statement (3.3) (3.4)

D) Total recognised income and expenses (A+B+C) (151.0) (29.3)
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Statement of total changes 
in Equity

Subscribed 
capital

Share 
premium Reserve

Profit/loss
from prev.

years

Profit/
loss

for year Subventions TOTAL

Final balance 2011 0.1 1,008.1 0.0 (290.4) (61.5) 15.5 671.8

Adjustments for changes of criterion 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Adjustments for errors 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Adjusted balance beginning 2012 0.1 1,008.1 0.0 (290.4) (61.5) 15.5 671.8

Total recognised income and expenses 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (29.6) 0.3 (29.3)

Operations with partners or owners 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Capital increase 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Capital reduction 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Conversion of financial liabilities 
into equity 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Distribution of dividends 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Operations with own shares or 
participations (net) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Variation in equity due to 
business combinations 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other operations with partners 
or owners 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other variations in equity 0.0 0.0 0.0 (61.5) 61.5 0.0 0.0

Final balance 2012 0.1 1,008.1 0.0 (351.9) (29.6) 15.8 642.5

Adjustments for changes of criterion 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Adjustments for errors 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Adjusted balance beginning 2013 0.1 1,008.1 0.0 (351.9) (29.6) 15.8 642.5

Total recognised income and expenses 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (148.7) (2.3) (151.0)

Operations with partners or owners 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Capital increase 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Capital reduction 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Conversion of financial liabilities 
into equity 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Distribution of dividends 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Operations with own shares or 
participations (net) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Variation in equity due to 
business combinations 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other operations with partners 
or owners 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other variations in equity 0.0 0.0 0.0 (29.6) 29.6 0.0 0.0

Final balance 2013 0.1 1,008.1 0.0 (381.5) (148.7) 13.5 491.5
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4.5 CASH FLOW STATEMENT
	J anuary 1 to December 31 (millions of euros)

2013 2012

A) Cash flow from operating activities 358.2 210.5 

Result before tax (144.4) (79.4)

Adjustment of result 400.8 189.9 

Depreciation of fixed assets 336.5 268.9 

Valuation corrections due to impairment 95.4 11.5 

Variation of provisions 49.0 (26.0)

Accounting entry of subventions (5.7) (7.2)

Results of disposal of fixed assets (0.2) (0.3)

Results of disposal of financial instruments 0.0 0.0 

Financial income (85.5) (96.7)

Financial expenses 11.5 15.4 

Exchange rate differences 1.8 29.1 

Valuation at reasonable value in financial instruments 0.0 0.0 

Other income and expenses (2.0) (4.8)

Changes in current capital (61.1) (59.4)

Inventories 38.9 22.4 

Receivables and others 50.3 8.2 

Other current assets (1.4) (0.1)

Payables and others (152.0) (107.1)

Other current liabilities 3.1 17.2 

Other non-current assets and liabilities 0.0 0.0 

Other cash flow in operating activities 162.9 159.4 

Payment of interests (8.5) (12.5)

Collection of dividends 114.3 130.2 

Collection of interests 1.2 1.5 

Collection (payment) for corporation tax 55.9 40.2 

Other payments (collections) 0.0 0.0 

B) Cash flow from investment activities (307.8) (546.8)

Payments for investment (315.1) (554.6)

Group and associated companies 0.0 (0.5)

Intangible assets (121.0) (250.4)

Tangible assets (193.6) (303.2)

Other financial assets (0.5) (0.5)
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2013 2012

Collection for disinvestments 7.3 7.8 

Group and associated companies 6.6 4.1 

Intangible assets 0.0 0.9 

Tangible assets 0.1 0.9 

Other financial assets 0.6 0.5 

Non-current assets available for sale 0.0 1.4 

C) Cash flow from financing activities (48.7) 365.5 

Collection and payments for equity instruments 3.0 2.1 

Acquisition of own equity instruments 0.0 0.0 

Disposal of own equity instruments 0.0 0.0 

Subventions 3.0 2.1 

Collection and payments for financial liability instruments (51.7) 363.4 

Issue 0.2 370.3 

Borrowing from credit institutions 0.0 0.0 

Borrowing from Group and associated companies 0.0 370.3 

Other liabilities 0.2 0.0 

Repayment and depreciation of (51.9) (6.9)

Borrowing from credit institutions 0.0 0.0 

Borrowing from Group and associated companies (47.1) 0.0 

Other liabilities (4.8) (6.9)

Payments for dividends and remuneration of other equity instruments 0.0 0.0 

Dividends  0.0 0.0 

Remuneration of other equity instruments 0.0 0.0 

D) Effect of exchange rate variations (1.8) (29.1)

E) Net increase/decrease in cash or equivalents (A+B+C+D) (0.1) 0.1 

Cash or equivalents at beginning of year 0.1 0.0 

Cash or equivalents at end of year 0.0 0.1 



162

4.6 NOTES
	 Notes to Annual Accounts (Financial year ending December 31, 2013)

1. Company activity

a) Registered offices and legal form
SEAT, S.A. was legally constituted on May 9, 1950, and is currently included in the Barcelona Mercantile Register, Volume 23,662, 

Folio 1, Page B 56,855, CIF A-28049161. On June 7, 2006, the Ordinary Shareholders’ meeting changed the company’s registered 

offices, with effect the same day, to its present site at: Autovía A2, Km 585 (E-08760 Martorell).

b) Business aim and activities		
The company’s business aim is the manufacture and sale of cars, parts, spare parts, accessories and any other 

complementary or related services, including technical assistance and service. Through its subsidiaries SEAT also 

undertakes commercial sales and marketing activities.

2. Exemption from presenting consolidated Annual Accounts

The General Shareholders’ Meeting, held on June 20, 1991, voted exemption of the companies making up the SEAT 

Group, pursuant to the terms of Article 43 of the Code of Commerce, from presenting Consolidated Annual Accounts. In 

accordance with the provisions of the above-mentioned Article 43, SEAT, S.A. (Unipersonal Joint Stock Parent Company 

of the SEAT Group) is exempt from the obligation of presenting Consolidated Annual Accounts, as it is a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of Volkswagen International Finance N.V. (its sole shareholder, with registered offices in Amsterdam, Holland), 

and indirect subsidiary of VOLKSWAGEN AG (with registered offices in Wolfsburg, Germany); the pertinent financial 

statements, together with those of its subsidiaries, are included in those of the Volkswagen Group, of which VOLKSWAGEN 

AG is the parent company.

From the aforementioned agreement, the Consolidated Annual Accounts of VOLKSWAGEN AG, as well as the Consolidated 

Management Report and the Group’s Auditors’ Report, are presented in their Spanish translation for deposition at the 

Barcelona Mercantile Register. 

3. Presentation basis of Annual Accounts

a) True and faithful account
The Annual Accounts – comprising the Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Statement, Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash 

Flow Statement and Notes – have been prepared on the basis of the company’s accounting records, and are presented in 

accordance with the Spanish General Accounting Plan approved by Royal Decree 1514/2007 of November 16, in addition 

to subsequent modifications to said Plan by Royal Decree 1159/2010 of September 17. 

The Annual Accounts provide a true and faithful account of the company’s equity, its financial situation and results of 

business, cash flow and changes in equity. 

b) Comparability of information 
The figures contained in the Annual accounts are expressed in millions of euros. 
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c) Grouping of headings
In order to present the figures clearly, the headings are grouped together in the Balance Sheet and the Profit and Loss 

Statement and broken down in the Notes (Art. 256 of new Capital Company Law).

d) Items appearing under several headings
There are some items whose amounts are shown under different headings of the Balance Sheet, due to their being credits 

or liabilities whose collection arises in different financial years, with the items receivable or payable in the next year 

shown as short-term items, while amounts that will fall due in the forthcoming years are shown as long-term.

e) Measurement and estimation of uncertainty
In preparing the Annual Accounts, company management was required to make estimates and assumptions that 

may affect the accounting policies finally adopted as well as the value of assets, liabilities, income, expenditure and 

breakdowns related thereto.    

Estimates and hypotheses are based, inter alia, on past experience or other factors considered reasonable in view of the 

factors or circumstances considered at the balance sheet date, the result of which constitutes the basis for decisions 

concerning the book value of the assets and liabilities which cannot be determined immediately in any other fashion. 

Actual results may differ from initial estimates. 

Some accounting estimates are considered significant if the nature of the estimates and assumption is material, and if 

the impact of the estimates and assumptions on the financial position or the operative performance is material. Details 

are provided below of the principal estimates made:

/ Useful life of elements of fixed assets (see Notes 5a, 5b and 6).

/ �The calculation of taxes on profits requires interpretations of tax legisation applicable to the company. The company 

assesses the recoverability of assets via deferred taxes on the basis of the existence of future tax bases against which 

it is possible to realize said assets (see Notes 5i and 18).

/ �Provisions are recognised when it is probable that a current obligation, the result of past events, gives rise to an outflow 

of resources and the amount of the obligation can be estimated in a reliable fashion. To comply with the requirements of 

accounting standards, significant estimates are necessary. The company makes estimates by evaluating all information 

and relevant events concerning the probability of occurrence of the contingencies as well as the amount of the liabilitity 

to be settled in the future (see Notes 5g and 14).

4. Application of results

At its meeting on February 14, 2014, the Board of Directors formulated a proposal to the General Shareholders’ Meeting 

whereby losses incurred in 2013 (148.7 million euros) are administered to losses from previous years.  

In compliance with the new Capital Company Law, dividends which reduce the balance of reserves below outstanding 

balances for R&D expenses amortization may not be distributed. 
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5.  Standards for recording and valuation 

a)  Intangible assets
Those specifically individualized development projects which present sound motives for technical success and 

economic-commercial profitability are activated as intangible assets. Those projects in force until December 31, 2007 

are depreciated lineally over a maximum period of five years. New projects as from January 1, 2008, by applying a 

criterion of homogenization with the policies of the Volkswagen Group, will be amortized according to their useful life 

(see Appendix 1). 

Software is valued at acquisition price and cost is depreciated over a three-year period. Likewise, expenditure related to 

software maintenance is accounted for as such when incurred.

When the book value of an asset is higher than its estimated realizable value, its net value is reduced immediately to its 

recoverable amount. Those assets subject to depreciation are submitted to loss tests due to impairment, provided that 

any event or change in circumstances indicate that the book value may not be recoverable. A loss due to impairment 

is recognised by the excess of book value of the asset over its recoverable amount, the latter being understood as the 

fair value of the asset less the retail costs or value in use, whichever is the greater. With a view to valuing losses due 

to impairment, assets are grouped together at the lowest level so as to provide separately identifiable cash flow (cash 

generating units). Non-financial assets, distinct from goodwill, which are seen to have undergone loss due to impairment, 

are submitted to periodical reviews at each Balance Sheet date in case there have been possible reversions of the loss. 

The costs related to SEAT’s participation in the manufacturing of tooling needed for the production of shared parts for the 

platforms of the Volkswagen Group, which incorporate the new models of the Group’s different brands, are shown under 

this heading and will have a linear depreciation for a five-year maximum period from the date of the model’s launching. 

Financial costs (estimated at 2.3%) assigned to long-term projects involving R&D developments by Group companies are 

also shown under this heading. 

Greenhouse gas emission rights, obtained for consideration are valued at acquisition price. Rights received via the 

National Attribution Plan are valued at the beginning of the calendar year they correspond to, in line with a Group-wide 

uniform single policy. 

As gas emissions are generated, the company reflects the cost deriving from the obligation to return the corresponding 

rights by establishing a ‘Short-term provisions’ item. The rights have been received gratis by the company, so that the 

amount of the subsidy posted should be applied in a general nature, as emissions associated with rights received gratis 

are booked against costs.

b) Tangible assets
Tangible assets are valued at their acquisition price or production cost. Assets acquired before December 31, 1983 

were revalued in accordance with the provisions of Law 76/1961, Decree 12/1973, Law 1/1979, Law 74/1980 and Law 

9/1983.
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When an asset’s book value is greater than its estimated realizable value, its net value is reduced immediately to its 

recoverable value (see previous Note).

Repair and maintenance expenses are posted as expenses when incurred. Expenses that represent an improvement or 

lengthening of the useful life of assets are capitalized and depreciated over the new estimated useful life. Depreciation 

is calculated using the straight-line method, based on the estimated useful life of the assets.

c) Leases

I. When company is lessee

Leases of tangible assets in which the company substantially has all the risks and rewards deriving from ownership are 

classified as financial leases. They are capitalized at the beginning of the lease period at the fair value of the property 

leased or the current value of the minimum payments agreed for the lease, whichever is the lesser. The interest rate 

implicit in the contract is used to calculate current value; failing that, the company’s usual interest rate in similar 

transactions is applied. Each lease payment is distributed between liabilities and financial charges. Total financial 

charges are distributed over the duration of the lease operation and are booked to the Profit and Loss Statement of the 

financial year in which they accrue, applying the method of effective interest rate. The contingent quotas are costs of the 

financial year in which they are incurred. The corresponding obligations for the lease operation, net of financial charges, 

are included under ‘Creditors for financial leasing’. The fixed assets acquired under financial leases are depreciated 

during their useful life. 

Those leases in which the lessor maintains a substantial part of the risks and rewards deriving from ownership are 

classified as operative leasings. Payments for operative leases (net of any incentive received from the lessor) are booked 

to the Profit and Loss Statement during the financial year when they accrue, on a straight-line basis for the duration of 

the leasing period. 

II. When company is lessor

When assets are leased under operative leases, the asset is entered on the Balance Sheet in accordance with its nature. 

Income deriving from leases is recognised on a straight-line basis for the duration of the lease operation. 

d) Financial instruments

I. Long-term investments  

Financial investments are shown on the Balance Sheet at acquisition cost or put-in value. Where applicable, provisions 

are recorded for recognizing value depreciations deriving from negative development of subsidiary company’s equity. 

Capital increases with non-cash contributions in Group companies are valued at the amount resulting from the book 

value of the goods contributed. 

II. Receivables

Receivables are recorded at their nominal value, less provision for insolvency and, for balances payable after more than 

1 year, the necessary provision to show the current value of the debt. Receivables are classified as short- or long-term 

depending on the maturity date on the Balance Sheet date. Those whose maturity dates fall within a twelve-month period 

after the end of the financial year are regarded as current; those beyond said period being regarded as non-current. 
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III. Short-term investments

Short-term investments are entered at nominal value.

IV. Liabilities  

These are posted at their current value. Liabilities are classified as short- or long-term depending on maturity dates at 

Balance Sheet date. Debts which fall due in the 12 months following the year-end are regarded as current, and those in 

excess of this period as non-current.

e)  Inventories  
Inventories are valued at cost or net realizable value, whichever is less, the pertinent value corrections being made. The 

following methods are used to determine the cost of inventories:

/ �Raw materials: At acquisition cost, applying the FIFO method (first in, first out).

/ �Work in progress, vehicles and spare parts produced by the company: At raw material cost, according to the method 

described previously, adding labour costs and other direct and indirect manufacturing expenses of production.

/ �Acquired spare parts: At acquisition cost as per invoice (plus customs, insurance and transport costs), applying the 

FIFO method.

The vehicle fleet utilized by the company for its own use, whose useful life or sales period is considered lower than one 

year, is maintained within the year’s inventory and is not shown under tangible assets, registering the corresponding 

valuation correction.

Vehicles handed over to rental car companies with a purchase commitment are recorded in this section with the 

corresponding depreciation applied. The amount of the consideration received at the moment of initial delivery of the 

vehicles is booked on the liability side of the balance sheet. The difference between the amount received and the agreed 

repurchase price is transferred to results linearly in the period ranging between the initial delivery and the repurchase date.

f) Subventions
Capital subventions are posted to equity, at the amount granted when they are not repayable. These subventions are 

transferred to results as a function of the depreciation of the assets associated to the subsidized projects. For their 

part, non-repayable subventions related to specific costs are recognised on the Profit and Loss Statement in the same 

financial year in which the corresponding costs accrue, with those granted to offset a business deficit being entered in 

the financial year in which they are granted, except when given to offset a business deficit in future years, in which case 

they are entered during said financial years. 

g) Provisions and risks
The provisions include known risks at year-end, for the estimated value of such. Long-term provisions are shown at their 

present value. 

h) Foreign currency transactions
The conversion into euros (functional currency) of the cost of fixed assets and inventory items whose original value was 

expressed in foreign currency is conducted at the going exchange rate on the date of acquisition.



167

ANNUAL REPORT 2013     SEAT, S.A. Annual Accounts        Auditors’ report 
Balance Sheet 

Profit and Loss Statement 
Statement of Changes in Equity

Cash Flow Statement
>Notes 

Appendix 1. Evolution of Non-current Assets 
� Appendix 2. Subsidiary Companies 

Positive and negative differences which may arise between payables and receivables and their corresponding exchange 

rates in force on the closing date are entered in the Profit and Loss Statement in the year in which they arise.  

i) Corporation tax
The company is subject to corporation tax under the consolidated tax regime, which includes all Group companies that 

fulfill the requirements demanded by the legislation in force. 

The Profit and Loss Statement includes as corporation tax income or expenses attributed to the company arising from tax 

consolidation, calculated according to the criteria established for groups of companies with consolidated taxation (see 

Note 18). 

The expense (income) for taxes on profits is the amount that accrues under this item in the financial year, and which 

comprises both the expense (income) for current as well as deferred tax. 

Both the expense (income) for current and deferred taxes are recorded on the Profit and Loss Statement. This 

notwithstanding, the tax effect related to items directly entered to equity is recognised on equity. 

Deferred taxes are recorded with the liability method, based on time differences arising between taxation bases of assets 

and liabilities and their book values. 

Deferred taxes are determined by application of the rules and tax rates approved or about to be approved at the Balance 

Sheet date, and which are expected to be applied when the corresponding asset due to deferred tax is realized or when 

the liability due to deferred tax is paid. 

Assets due to deferred taxes are recognised insofar as it is probable that there will be future tax gains which can be used 

to offset time differences.

j) Income and expenses
Income and expenses are posted when realized or incurred, for the reasonable value of the consideration received, 

and represent the amounts receivable or payable for goods delivered and services rendered, less returns, reductions, 

discounts and value added tax. 

Income from dividends is entered as income on the profit and loss account when the right to receive payment is 

established. In the event of coming from results generated prior to the date of acquisition it is entered by reducing the 

book value of the investment.

k) Compensation for termination of contract
Compensation for termination of contract is paid by the company to employees as a result of the decision to terminate their 

labour contract. The company recognises this compensation when it has committed itself demonstrably to terminating 

the contracts of employees in accordance with a formal detailed plan. 

l) enviroNmental expenses
Expenses deriving from business activities aimed at protecting and improving the environment are posted as expenses 

in the financial year in which they are incurred. Said expenses are posted at greater value of fixed assets when involving 

additions to tangible assets whose objective is minimizing environmental impact and protecting the environment.
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m) Transactions with Group companies 
As a general rule, operations between Group companies are accounted for at the initial moment for their fair value. In the 

event that the agreed price is different from the fair value, the difference is recorded with consideration for the economic 

reality of the operation. Later valuation is carried out in accordance with provisions in the applicable standards. 

n) Non-current assets available for sale
Non-current assets available for sale are valued at the moment of clasification at either book or reasonable value, 

whichever is the lower, after deduction of estimated sales costs.

6. Non-current assets

a)  Evolution of non-current assets
Movements of the items included in non-current assets are detailed in Appendix 1 of these Notes.

b)  Intangible assets
Correction due to impairment amounts to 90 million euros (1.5 in 2012). Said corrections are linked to the estimate of 

future sales volumes of the vehicles comprising the model range. The current value of the margin of contribution to sales 

during the life cycle of the models has been calculated on the basis of an annual discount rate of 6.6% in 2012 and 2013. 

A variation of ±10 percentage points in the hypotheses used would not have a significant effect on the present annual 

accounts. The sum total of investments activated under R&D is acquired from Group companies. 

On November 15, 2013 the Spanish Cabinet approved the definitive individual assignment of emission rights for 

greenhouse gases for 2013-2020. SEAT, S.A. obtained a free assignment of 304,122 tonnes of CO
2
 for the above 

mentioned period. 

The saleable value of this fixed asset amounts to 0.5 million euros (0.3 in 2012). The counterpart for assignation of these 

rights has been entered to equity under the section ‘Official capital subventions’. During the financial year acquisitions 

of 40,000 emission rights (EUAs), to the value of 0.2 million euros, have been made.

During the year, 5.7 million euros (11.7 in 2012) corresponding to the use of tooling and technology of the Group, were 

capitalized under sub-section ‘Payments on account and intangible assets in progress’.

The value of totally depreciated and in-use assets amounts to 959 million euros (709.8 in 2012). 

At the end of the financial year, the company has firm commitments for the purchase of goods to the amount of 0.4 million 

euros (0.2 in 2012).

In 2013 no subventions for R&D projects were received (5.1 million euros in 2012, which have been set aside for the 

acquisition of R&D assets).

c)  Tangible assets
The estimated useful lives of the goods in tangible assets are as follows: buildings and other constructions, from 10 to 50 

years; technical equipment and machinery, from 4 to 18 years; other facilities, tooling and office equipment, and other 

assets, from 4 to 35 years.
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Correction due to impairment amounts to 0.5 million euros (9.6 in 2012). Said corrections are linked to the estimate of 

future sales volumes of vehicles in the model range. The current value of the margin of contribution to sales during the life 

cycle of the models has been calculated on the basis of an annual discount rate of 6.6% in 2012 and 2013. A variation of 

±10 percentage points in the hypotheses used would not have a significant effect on the present annual accounts.

The section on land and buildings embraces the gross value of both in a single section. Of the total amount, 6% 

corresponds to land, and the remaining 94% to buildings, both in 2012 and in 2013.   

At year’s end, goods outside the operation are totally depreciated, the value of goods totally depreciated and still in use 

amounting to 3,102.3 million euros (2,906.5 in 2012). Of them 95.5 million euros come to buildings (92.8 in 2012). 

Likewise, investment acquired from VW Group companies amounted to 29.7 million euros (74.3 in 2012).

The principal amounts of assets (listed according to origin, utilization and location) are as follows:

Millions of euros 2013 2012

Gross Value Depreciation Gross Value Depreciation

Tangible assets acquired from VW Group companies 451.4 246.7 427.4 210.6

Tangible assets used by VW Group companies 48.7 30.6 48.9 29.8

Tangible assets used by non-Group suppliers 1,333.4 1,211.2 1,262.3 1,171.0

Tangible assets placed abroad 134.7 112.2 117.9 103.7

The financial year results deriving from disposal of tangible assets totalled 0.2 million euros (0.6 in 2012). 

The company has contracted various insurance policies to cover risks to which tangible assets are subject. The coverage 

of these policies is considered sufficient.

At year’s end the company assumed firm commitments to purchase capital goods to the value of 49.9 million euros (155.6 

in 2012).

d)  Long-term Group companies investments
The companies in which SEAT, S.A. has an investment of 20% or more in the share capital are listed in Appendix 2 of these 

Notes. None of the companies is quoted on the Stock Exchange.
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7. Leases and other similar operations

a)  Financial leases  
Details of rights over goods under the system of financial leases included in the section ‘Land and Buildings’ of tangible 

assets is as follows:

Millions of euros

Length of 
contract 

(years) Cost

Purchase  
option 
 value

Quotas 
pending    
payment  

2013

Quotas 
pending 
payment 

2012

Corporative building    (02.02.05) 10 21.1 0.0 6.0 8.6

Dining building (20.09.06) 10 2.0 0.0 0.7 1.0

T-Systems building (20.09.06) 10 3.4 0.0 1.3 1.7

SAT building (20.09.06) 10 5.2 0.0 2.0 2.7

Peguform building (08.03.07) 7 3.7 0.0 0.7 1.3

The current values of quotas pending payment are distributed by maturity date in the following way: 4.5 million euros 

in 2014 and 6.2 million euros between 2015-2018. The impact of updating said quotas amounts to 0.6 million euros. 

b)  Operative leases
The company also has operative leases. The amounts paid for rent to other Group companies or third parties, excluding 

those already mentioned in the previous paragraph, and comprising mainly information technology, land, buildings, 

fork-lift trucks, containers, fields and warehouses, total 11.4 million euros (12.4 in 2012). Rents received, mainly for 

buildings, fields and warehouses, amounted to 4.4 million euros (4.2 in 2012). Future amounts to be paid and received, 

in the event of early cancellation of contracts, are calculated not to be substantially different from those in the present 

financial year. 

8. Financial instruments

a)  Impact on financial situation and results

I.  Balance sheet

The categories of financial assets and liabilities appearing on the company’s Balance Sheet can be broken down thus:
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Millions of euros Equity  
instruments

Borrowing  
securities

Credits, derivatives 
and others

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Long-term financial assets

Loans and receivables 1,121.6 1,114.3 0.0 0.0 1.5 1.7

Group companies investments (Note 6a) 1,121.6 1,114.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1

Financial investments (Note 6a) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.5 1.6

Short-term financial assets

Loans and receivables 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 411.5 458.3

Trade receivables and others (Note 10) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 377.4 383.5

Group companies investments (Note 11) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 34.1 74.8

Financial investments (Note 11) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Millions of euros
Borrowing  
from credit 
institutions

Bonds and other 
negotiable  
securities

Derivatives  
and 

 others

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Long-term financial liabilities

Debts and other payables 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 85.7 90.4

Group companies liabilities (Note 15) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3 1.9

Third-party liabilities (Note 15) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 84.4 88.5

Short-term financial liabilities

Debts and other payables 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 2,562.2 2,755.8

Group companies liabilities (Note 15) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,310.9 1,349.9

Third-party liabilities (Note 15) 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 67.1 44.7

Trade payables and others (Note 16) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,184.2 1,361.2

During the financial year, SEAT did not hold any own shares, and therefore carried out no related operations; neither was 

this the case in 2012.

II. Profit and Loss Statement and equity

The net amount of valuation corrections due to impairment for financial interests in Group companies at the end of the 

financial year totalled 7.3 million euros (8.3 in 2012).

III. Other information 

SEAT has formalized various commercial surety contracts jointly with the Centro Técnico de SEAT, S.A. (CTS) and SEAT 

Sport, S.A. to a maximum total amount of 178.6 million euros (114 in 2012), for the issue of guarantees covering the 

refundable advances made by the Spanish Ministry of Science and Technology to the CTS. Likewise, the company is 
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maintaining a line for the formalization of guarantee provision, jointly with other companies within the Group, covering 

the Spanish Ministry of Science and Technology for an amount of 92.4 million euros (59 in 2012), and covering third 

parties to an amount of 44.3 million euros (30.1 in 2012).  

b) Nature and level of risk 
The company’s activities are exposed to diverse financial risks: market risks (including exchange rates, interest rates and 

prices), as well as credit and liquidity risks. The company’s global risk management programme centres on managing the 

uncertainty of financial markets and aims to minimize potential adverse effects on financial profitability. 

Risk management is under the purview of company Management, which identifies, assesses and covers financial 

risks in accordance with the policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board provides guidelines for global risk 

management, as well as for more specific areas such as exchange rate risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk, the use of 

derivatives and non-derivatives as well as investment of excess liquidity. 

The company has the necessary financing for its business operations via financial support provided by the Group. 

I. Market risk

Exchange rates

As an operator with global reach, the company is exposed to exchange rate risk via currency operations, especially with 

the US dollar, pound sterling, Swiss franc, Japanese yen, Polish zloty, Russian rouble, Chinese yuan, as well as Czech, 

Danish and Swedish crowns. The exchange rate risk emerges from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and 

liabilities, and net investment in operations abroad. This notwithstanding, the risk is covered by the Volkswagen Group 

through centralization of foreign currency operations management. 

Price

The company is not exposed to the risk of the price of securities since it does not include in its Balance Sheet investments 

held for sale or at a fair value with changes in the Profit and Loss Statement. The company limits its risk exposure to 

the price of commodities by participating in covering operations applied at a Volkswagen Group level so as to ensure  

the price of certain metals such as aluminium, copper and lead. 

Interest rates 

Since the company does not possess any major remunerated assets, income and cash-flow from its business activities 

are substantially unaffected by changes in market interest rates.  

II. Credit risk

Credit risk arises out of cash and equivalents, deposits with banks and financial institutions, and clients. With regard 

to banks and financial institutions, independent creditworthiness scales are used. If clients have been assessed 

independently, the resulting scale is used; failing an independent creditworthiness check, credit control assesses the 

client’s creditworthiness, taking into account the financial situation, previous experience and other factors. Individual 

credit limits are established on the basis of internal and external credit qualifications, with regular oversight of use of 

said limits.  
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III. Liquidity risk

Precaution in the management of liquidity risk involves maintaining sufficient cash and negotiable securities as well as 

financing availability via a sufficient amount of committed credit facilities. Management undertakes close scrutiny of 

forecasts of the company’s liquidity reserves on the basis of expected cash-flows.

9.  Inventories

Millions of euros 31.12.13 31.12.12

Acquired products 68.7 82.3

Raw materials and other supplies 60.7 61.2

Work in progress and partly-finished goods 31.7 32.3

Finished goods 118.8 155.7

279.9 331.5

At year’s end the impairment of inventory amounted to 115.5 million euros (102.9 in 2012), with provision for the 

financial year totalling 12.6 million euros (10.8 in 2012).

The company maintains a commitment to purchase cars invoiced to rental car companies (see Note 5e) to the value of 

40.1 million euros (36.3 in 2012).

The company has taken out various insurance policies to cover risks to which inventories are exposed. Coverage provided 

by these policies is deemed sufficient.

10. Trade receivables and others

Millions of euros 31.12.13 31.12.12

Trade receivables 85.8 93.7

Group companies receivables 280.8 285.7

Other receivables 9.8 3.5

Personnel 1.0 0.6

Current tax assets 17.6 21.6

Government bodies 96.8 140.3

491.8 545.4

Impairment of the value of credits due to commercial operations totalled 2 million euros (2.4 million in 2012). 
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11. Short-term investments

Millions of euros 31.12.13 31.12.12

Group companies 34.1 74.8

Loans 0.6 7.0

Other financial assets 33.5 67.8

Third-party 0.0 0.0

Loans 0.0 0.0

Other financial assets 0.0 0.0

34.1 74.8

The ‘Loans in Group companies’ section includes credits at current market interest rates, while ‘Other financial assets in 

Group companies’ includes the net value of balances generated on an annual basis by the tax assessment bases of the 

Group companies subject to corporation tax under the consolidated tax regime applicable to SEAT (see Note 18).

During the fiscal year the company has maintained loans and deposits with Group companies and credit institutions at a 

weighted average interest rate of 0.2% (0.5% in 2012). 

12. Shareholders’ equity

The breakdown and evolution of company equity may be found in the Statement of Changes in Equity.

On February 25, 2010, the sole shareholder of SEAT, S.A., the German company Volkswagen AG, transferred its 

participation (100%) in SEAT’s share capital to the Dutch company Volkswagen International Finance N.V.

The share capital amounts to 120,200 euros which represents 20,000 shares at 6.01 euros per share, entirely subscribed 

and disbursed by the sole shareholder Volkswagen International Finance N.V. Legal reserves totalling 24,040 euros are 

totally provided for in compliance with current legislation.

13. Subventions 

Non-repayable capital subventions appearing on the Balance Sheet in the current section have been provided by central 

and autonomous governments for projects in production process improvement as well as new product development. 

Movement is as follows:

Millions of euros 2013 2012

Initial balance 15.8 15.5

Addition 1.0 3.7

Transferred to results (3.3) (3.4)

End balance 13.5 15.8
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The company has also received operating subventions, basically to cover costs associated with R&D projects as well as 

activities relating to training; commercial development and energy efficiency (see Note 19d). 

The total amount of operating subventions amounts to 0.9 million euros (2.3 in 2012).   

14.  Provisions and risks 

Millions of euros
Balance 

 01.01.13
Addition 

2013
Disposal 

2013
Balance  
31.12.13

Trade operations 257.1 161.5 (114.8) 303.8

Personnel benefits 35.5 58.6 (35.2) 58.9

Environmental activities 20.2 2.6 (18.6) 4.2

Other provisions 455.6 143.8 (125.0) 474.4

768.4 366.5 (293.6) 841.3

At year’s end, the provisions amounted to 841.3 million euros, of which 188.8 million euros were long-term (updated to 

current market rate) and 652.5 million euros were short-term.

The section ‘Trade operations’ includes mainly provisions for vehicle warranties. The estimated cost of warranties has been 

calculated on the basis of historic ratios held by the company on vehicles sold.

The ‘Personnel costs’ section covers mainly those provisions made to implement the workforce reduction plan mutually 

agreed on for 2014 by the company and trade unions. 

The section ‘Environmental activities’ includes those activities aimed at recycling vehicles based on the 2000 European 

directive on end-of-life vehicles (see Note 20b), as well as those provided for concerning assigned emission rights for 

2013-2020 (see Note 6b). The estimated cost for the provision of vehicle recycling has been based on two factors – the 

average useful life of vehicles per country and cost of scrapping. Provision for emission rights is calculated on the basis 

of annual consumption of the same. 

The section ‘Other provisions’ covers basically provisions for production, legal and trading risks, as well as for legal 

proceedings still on-going with members of the sales and marketing network. The estimated cost of these provisions has 

been based on the probable settlement of claims received. 

Calculations of provisions have been updated to a discount rate of 3.8% in 2013 (5% in 2012). 

During 2013 the Spanish National Markets and Competition Regulator (CMNC) opened investigation proceedings 

concerning possible anti-competition practices between companies of the sector, which are currently on-going. At the 

date of presentation of these annual accounts, no information that might enable an assessment of the possible outcome 

of these proceedings is available.
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15. Liabilities

Millions of euros 31.12.13 31.12.12

Group companies 1,312.2 1,351.8

Third-party 151.5 133.3

Financial institutions 0.0 0.1

Financial leasing 10.1 14.2

Other financial liabilities 141.4 119.0

Official loans with subventioned interest 81.6 82.6

Bonds and deposits received 0.6 0.4

Suppliers of fixed assets 59.2 36.0

1,463.7 1,485.1

At year’s end liabilities amounted to 1,463.7 million euros, 1,312.2 million euros with Group companies (1.3 long-term and 

1,310.9 short-term), and 151.5 million euros with third parties (84.4 long-term and 67.1 short-term).

Liabilities (mainly with Group companies and with official organizations at zero interest rate) are distributed according to 

maturity date as follows: 1,378 million euros in 2014, 42.9 million euros for 2015-2018 and 42.8 million euros in later 

financial years (1,394.7, 40.6 and 49.8 respectively in 2012). 

When granting a loan to the company financial institutions apply current market interest rates applicable at time of 

authorisation. Likewise, interest rates applied to liabilities with Group companies are also subject to market conditions.

Credit lines granted to the company by Group companies totalled 1,700 million euros on December 31, 2013 of which 1,022 

million euros were used (1,400 and 1,069 respectively in 2012).

16. Trade payables and others

 Millions of euros 31.12.13 31.12.12

For third-party suppliers 566.2 560.5

Purchases/services rendered with confirming 48.4 0.0

Purchases/services rendered without confirming 517.8 560.5

For Group companies suppliers 496.3 536.5

Other payables 79.1 218.5

Personnel (remunerations pending) 42.6 45.7

Government bodies 25.4 23.4

1,209.6 1,384.6
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The section ‘Purchases/services rendered with confirming’ includes the part not advanced.

Payment periods to suppliers comply with limits established by Law 15/2010 of July 5, modifying Law 3/2004 concerning 

late payments in commercial operations. 

Said law stipulates a limit for payment of 75 days for 2012, and 60 days from January 1, 2013 onwards. At year’s end, 

payments made within the legally established time-frame totaled 7,156 million euros (6,839 in 2012) and the average 

weighted payment period to company suppliers was 37 days (43 days in 2012). There is currently no outstanding payment 

of major importance exceeding the legal limit.     

17.  Foreign currency  

The net value of balances in foreign currency totalled a debit balance of 31.2 million euros on December 31, 2013 (credit 

balance of 12.7 million euros in 2012), held mainly in US dollar, pound sterling, Swiss franc, Japanese yen, Polish zloty, 

Russian rouble, Chinese yuan, as well as Czech, Danish and Swedish crowns. Of this total, 26.7 million euros correspond 

to favourable balances with Group companies and other suppliers, and 57.9 million euros to negative balances with 

Group companies and other customers (59.1 and 46.4 respectively in 2012). The amounts attributed to income and 

expenses during the year amount to 18.4 and 20.2 million euros, respectively (14.2 and 43.3 in 2012).

Amounts (in millions of euros) of the main transactions carried out in foreign currency are as follows: 

 Millions of euros 2013 2012

Purchases 79.0 92.1

Sales 1,347.0 1,278.9 

Services received 61.5 70.4

Services rendered 3.5 3.5

18. Tax situation   

As of November 5, 2010, SEAT S.A.’s Board of Directors agreed on adhesion to the Code of Best Tax Practices. 

The Code contains a raft of recommendations and commitments designed to improve application of the taxation system, 

increase legal certainty and reciprocal cooperation relations – on the basis of  transparency and good faith – between the 

Spanish Taxation Authority and companies, the latter pledging themselves to apply fiscal policies which are responsible 

and known to the Board of Directors. 

By agreeing to adhere to the Code, SEAT S.A. makes a formal public commitment to implementing a fiscal policy the 

principles of which form an integral part of its business culture, namely:
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/ �The design and implementation of operations within the legal framework of each country it operates in, with total fiscal 

transparency in all such operations. 

/ �A cautious approach in its fiscal policy, visible via its consultations with the relevant Tax Authority when in doubt as to 

interpretation, proceeding in compliance with prevailing administrative practice and legal requirements. 

/ Constant oversight of operations and criteria applied to the same so as to avoid significant taxation risks. 

Throughout fiscal year 2013, SEAT S.A. maintained a fiscal policy which followed the above-mentioned principles, as a 

result of which the company was fully compliant with the commitments set out in the Code of Best Tax Practices, and was 

not aware of any operation with fiscally relevant repercussions.  

SEAT, S.A., as the parent company, has been integrated in the SEAT Group since 1988, under the consolidated tax system 

of corporation tax, with No. 2/88 (see Appendix 2).

In 2013, the positive tax result of the SEAT Group deriving from its consolidated corporation tax totalled 5.7 million euros, 

after offsetting negative tax assessment bases for previous years amounting to 13.1 million euros, and applying fiscal 

deductions amounting to 6 million euros. 

The conciliation of the posted result with the tax assessment base for the corporation tax for SEAT, S.A., including 

eliminations and adjustments from tax consolidation, is as follows:

 Millions of euros    Profit and  Loss Statement Equity

Increase Decrease TOTAL Increase Decrease TOTAL

Result for year 0.0 (148.7) (148.7) 0.0 0.0 0.0

Corporation tax 4.3 0.0 4.3 0.0 0.0 0.0

Permanent differences 0.0 (84.3) (84.3) 0.0 0.0 0.0

Specific to the company 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

From consolidation adjustment 0.0 (84.3) (84.3) 0.0 0.0 0.0

Timing differences 304.3 (172.9) 131.4 0.0 0.0 0.0

Specific to the company 302.0 (170.1) 131.9 0.0 0.0 0.0

Originating in the year 266.3 (0.4) 265.9 0.0 0.0 0.0

Originating in previous years 35.7 (169.7) (134.0) 0.0 0.0 0.0

From consolidation adjustment 2.3 (2.8) (0.5) 0.0 0.0 0.0

Originating in the year 1.9 (2.2) (0.3) 0.0 0.0 0.0

Originating in previous years 0.4 (0.6) (0.2) 0.0 0.0 0.0

Tax assessment base 308.6 (405.9) (97.3) 0.0 0.0 0.0

Corporation tax comprises income of 29 million euros of current tax and 39 million euros of deferred tax.

13.1 million euros in SEAT, S.A. negative tax assessment base corresponding to previous years has been applied to the 

consolidated corporation tax settlement, as well as 5.8 million euros in fiscal deductions.
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Additionally, adjustments from the previous year have been included, and the tax credits posted (74.2 million euros) have 

been retired, in line with the estimation of utilization of the same over the next few years, for which reason an expense has 

been accrued and posted on the profit and loss account for current corporation tax for a total of 4.3 million euros. 

As a consequence of consolidated taxation, the total reciprocal debts and loans between the Group companies amount 

to 56.9 million euros.

At December 31, 2013, the accumulated deferred asset taxes amounted to 361.5 million euros, of which 225.1 million 

euros arise from timing differences; 136.4 million euros come from fiscal loans deriving from deductions and negative 

tax assessment bases pending application regarded as assured.

For their part, deferred taxes on liabilities amount to 12.4 million euros, of which 6.7 million euros arise from timing 

differences, basically due to the free tax depreciation of R&D costs activated as intangible assets, and 5.7 million euros 

are related to headings of equity. 

Variation during the fiscal year on assets and liabilities due to deferred taxes total –54.8 and –11.6 million euros 

respectively. The detailed breakdown of net movement of the same is as follows:

 Millions of euros 2013 2012

Initial Balance 392.3 370.4

Deferred taxes entered directly to profit and loss statement (44.3) 22.0

Deferred taxes entered directly to equity (0.4) (1.6)

Deferred taxes transferred to profit and loss statement 1.5 1.5

End Balance 349.1 392.3

The capital gains generated in 2013, totalling 0.1 million euros, which might benefit from the tax deduction incentive for 

reinvestment of extraordinary profits, thanks to reinvestment in new assets. Tax credits were applied in previous fiscal years 

where reinvestment was made in the same year, namely: 11.9 million euros in 2007, 2.6 million in 2008, 1.5 million in 2011 

and 0.1 million in 2012.

At December 31, 2013, SEAT, S.A. tax credits or tax incentives for the following items and amounts in millions of euros 

were left pending for application:

Balance
 31.12.13

Maturity date

 Millions of euros 2014 2015 2016 2017 Later

R&D 306.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 306.3

Export companies 15.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 15.6

Environmental investment 7.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.3

Vocational training 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2

Pension plans contributions 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3

These tax credits and incentives will be applied in accordance with consolidated settlements of the Group, within the 

legal period established for each one. Likewise, at year’s end the negative tax bases generated in the Group total  267.6 

million euros (179.2 in 2009, 14.2 in 2010 and 74.2 in 2012), the cut-off period being 18 years.
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The company is open to an administrative audit for non-prescribed taxes for the period 2009-2013, with the exception of 

corporation tax which extends to the period 2009-2012. On September 2 2013, the company received notification of the 

initiation of a tax inspection process related to taxes and levies of the period 2009-2011.  At the date of preparation of the 

present annual accounts, inquiries related to the inspection process are at the information-gathering stage. Likewise, no 

risks having a significant impact on the present annual accounts have been identified.  

19. Income and expenses  

a) Distribution of net sales

The distribution of items is as follows:

 Millions of euros 2013 2012

Vehicles 5,815.1 5,448.1

Spare parts 477.8 474.7

Other sales 180.0 164.1

Materials 146.4 128.1

By-products and reusable waste 29.8 32.5

Services 3.8 3.5

6,472.9 6,086.9

The geographical distribution of markets is as follows:   

 Millions of euros 2013 2012

Spain 1,080.8 1,006.4

Rest of European Union 4,620.2 4,287.9

Rest of world 771.9 792.6

6,472.9 6,086.9

b) Change in inventories of finished goods and work in progress  

 Millions of euros 2013 2012

Decrease/increase of inventory (25.3) (29.8)

Work in progress 5.2 (25.5)

Partly-finished goods 0.3 (4.7)

Finished goods (30.8) 0.4

Impairment of inventory (12.2) (9.1)

(37.5) (38.9)
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c) Supplies 

 Millions of euros 2013 2012

Acquired  products 1,040.8 845.2

Purchases 1,027.9 859.9

Decrease/increase of inventory 12.9 (14.7)

Raw materials and other supplies 4,009.0 3,867.4

Purchases 4,008.3 3,860.2

Decrease/increase of inventory 0.7 7.2

Other external expenses 8.0 13.7

Impairment of acquired products, raw materials and others 0.5 1.8

5,058.3 4,728.1

d) Other operating income 

 Millions of euros 2013 2012

Sundry income 446.6 409.2

Operating subventions (see Note 13) 0.9 2.3

Discounted provisions 6.8 1.4

Other income 0.1 0.0

454.4 412.9

The ‘Sundry income’ section includes income from the rendering of services to Group companies and personnel, and 

other income.

e) Personnel costs 

 Millions of euros 2013 2012

Wages, salaries and similar concepts 453.7 443.0

Social costs 133.6 128.2

Social security 125.9 118.8

Others 7.7 9.4

Provisions (0.3) (5.0)

587.0 566.2
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f) Other operating expenses 

 Millions of euros 2013 2012

External services 1,124.8 1,193.8

Taxes 9.1 7.4

Losses, impairment and variation in provisions due to trade operations 64.8 111.0

Greenhouse gas emission rights 0.0 0.2

Other expenses 30.2 0.0

1,228.9 1,312.4

g) Financial income 

 Millions of euros 2013 2012

For participations 84.3 95.2

Group companies 84.3 95.2

Third-party 0.0 0.0

For other investments and financial instruments 1.2 1.5

Group companies 0.0 0.8

Third-party 1.2 0.7

85.5 96.7

h) Financial expenses 

 Millions of euros 2013 2012

For Group companies debts 7.5 12.2

For third-party debts 4.0 3.2

Discounted provisions and debts 7.2 5.6

18.7 21.0

i) Impairment and result on disposal of financial instruments

This heading contains principally those impairments and reversions of participations in Group companies.

20.  Environment

a)  Environment-related assets
Under the section ‘Tangible assets’, the company possesses a waste water treatment facility, plus a heat and power  

co-generation plant, at the Martorell factory, as well as other environment-related assets. The combined gross value of 
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these facilities amounts to 124.2 million euros, and accumulated depreciation stands at 99.2 million euros (119.7 and 

95.6 respectively in 2012).

In the wide-ranging investment programme implemented in 2013, a capitalised amount of 4.9 million euros, plus another 

totalling 0.8 million euros (6.1 and 0.9 respectively in 2012) corresponding to firm commitments for the purchase of 

capital goods has been identified, which can be devoted entirely to environmental protection-related activities. 

b) Environment-related liabilities
In compliance with the European Union directive on end-of-life vehicles, approved in 2000, the company set up a 

provision to cover risks deriving from end-of-life vehicle recycling.  

In 2013, as a result of the increase in the price of steel and other raw materials, there has been an increase in the benefit 

of scrapping cars, for which reason both SEAT and the rest of the Volkswagen Group have significantly reduced the 

provision maintained for this ítem. 

c) Environment-related expenses
Expenses for material and outside services have been identified. Said expenses, earmarked for protection and 

improvement of the environment, can be broken down as follows:

 Millions of euros 2013 2012

Control and monitoring of air pollution 0.4 0.3

Waste water treatment and management 2.3 2.5

Industrial waste treatment and management 5.6 6.6

Energy savings 0.3 0.2

Visual impact improvement 0.2 0.1

Communication management 0.1 0.0

Environmental process management 0.2 0.3

End-of-life vehicles management 0.2 0.2

Miscellaneous 0.0 0.1

9.3 10.3

Expenses accounted for the financial year, regarding amortization of environment-related assets amount to 4 million 

euros (5.1 in 2012).

The overall estimated staff costs of SEAT employees devoted to total or partial implementation of environmental 

protection-related activities amount to 1.3 million euros (1.4 in 2012).

d) Environment-related income
Income deriving from the sale of by-products and reusable waste totalled 29.8 million euros (32.5 in 2012).
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21. Within-Group operations 

a) Group companies
The following transactions were carried out with Volkswagen Group companies. In addition to the companies inclu-

ded in the Appendix 2 of these Notes, the most noteworthy being: Audi AG; Audi Hungaria Motor Kft.; Audi Tooling 

Barcelona, S.L.; Groupe VW France s.a.; Skoda Auto a.s.; Skoda Auto Slovensko s.r.o.; VW AG; VW de México, S.A.; VW 

Finance Belgium S.A.; VW Group Services S.A.; VW Group UK Ltd.; VW Insurance Service Correduría de Seguros S.L.; 

and VW Slovakia a.s.

 Millions of euros 2013 2012

Purchases 1,993.6 1,746.8

Materials 1,072.0 1,007.3

Spare parts 171.9 189.4

Vehicles 749.7 550.1

Net sales 4,567.9 4,251.7

Services received 474.7 525.6

Services rendered 340.0 296.0

Accrued financial income 0.0 0.8

Dividends received 84.3 95.2

Accrued financial expenses 7.5 12.2

The breakdown of the total amount of the main transactions carried out in foreign currencies is as follows:

 Millions of euros 2013 2012

Purchases 37.0 57.0

Net sales 888.6 825.5

Services received 43.8 63.2

Services rendered 2.7 2.8

Purchases refer mainly to the acquisition of vehicles, parts, accessories and machinery. Sales corresponded mainly 

to vehicles produced in Spain for export markets. Services received comprise R&D, transport of sales, maintenance of 

equipment, logistics, marketing, consulting services and training. Services rendered refer mainly to transport, warranties, 

advertising, technical assistance, training, vehicle rental and leasing of buildings. Financial income and expenses stem 

from loans and current account operations between Group companies.

The margin generated by sales operations with Group companies is broken down by business lines as follows: 27.5% in 

materials, 27.4% in spare parts, and 9.8% in vehicles (27.7%; 24.5%; and 10.1%, respectively in 2012). Purchases made 

from Group companies were done so in normal market conditions.

In the Notes, other transactions with Group companies are referenced: Notes 6b and 6c, additions of assets; and Note 

18, net charges for tax consolidation.
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On December 31, 2013 SEAT, S.A. (Unipersonal Company) and Volkswagen International Finance N.V., sole shareholder 

of the company (see Note 12), have no agreements in force.

b) Board of Directors  
The total amount of remuneration received under all headings by members of the Board of Directors and by Senior 

Directors in the exercise of their functions during 2013 stood at 10.3 million euros (8.4 in 2012). 

No advances or credits have been accorded to either members of the Board of Directors or Senior Management, nor other 

commitments made vis-à-vis pensions, insurance policies, credits, guarantees or similar items during the 2013 and 

2012 financial years.

Members of the Board of Directors make no declaration of interest concerning  Article 229 of the new Capital Company 

Law, referring to posts or responsibilities which Board Members hold or discharge in companies outside the Group of 

which SEAT is a member, concerning activities similar, analogous or complementary to the stated business aims of the 

company.

Members of SEAT, S.A.’s Board of Directors also holding posts or responsibilities such as members of Boards of Directors 

or Management in other Volkswagen Group companies, concerning activities similar, analogous or complementary to the 

stated business aims of SEAT are listed hereafter:

Post

Dr. Francisco Javier García Sanz

Volkswagen AG Member of the Board of Management

AUDI AG Member of the Supervisory Board

FAW-Volkswagen Automotive Company, Ltd. Member of the Board of Directors

Scania AB, Södertälje Member of the Board of Directors

Scania CV AB, Stockholm Member of the Board of Directors

Shanghai-Volkswagen Automotive Company, Ltd. Member of the Board of Directors

Volkswagen (China) Investment Company, Ltd. Member of the Board of Directors

Volkswagen Group of America, Inc. Member of the Board of Directors

Porsche AG Member of the Supervisory Board

Porsche Holding Stuttgart GmbH Member of the Supervisory Board

Martin Mahlke

Groupe Volkswagen France GmbH Member of the Board of Management

James Muir

Volkswagen Group Italia, s.p.a. Member of the Board of Directors

Matthias Müller

Porsche AG Chairman of the Board of Management

Porsche Automobil Holding SE Member of the Board of Management

Jürgen Stackmann

SEAT Deutschland GmbH Chairman of the Board of Directors
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22. Other information

a) Workforce    
The breakdown of the total average basic workforce by functions of SEAT, S.A. is as follows:

2013 2012

Productive wage earners 7,176 7,220

Time-rate wage earners 959 998

Managers, technicians, administrative and support staff 3,348 3,214

Members of the Executive Committee 8 8

11,491 11,440

The breakdown of SEAT, S.A.’s basic workforce at December 31 is as follows:

2013 2012

Men Women TOTAL Men Women TOTAL

Productive wage earners 5,582 1,564 7,146 5,623 1,578 7,201

Time-rate wage earners 912 30 942 937 34 971

Managers, technicians,administrative and 
support staff 2,508 854 3,362 2,442 843 3,285

Members of the Executive Committee 8 0 8 8 0 8

9,010 2,448 11,458 9,010 2,455 11,465

SEAT, S.A.’s Board of Directors comprises 5 members (male).

b) Auditors
The fees accrued by PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. for audit services were 0.4 million euros (0.4 in 

2012). Likewise, the fees received for other services provided by the auditor and other companies which use the 

PricewaterhouseCoopers brand totalled 0 and 0.3 million euros, respectively (0.1 and 0.6 in 2012).

23.  Events after closure of financial year 

On February 14 2014, the respective Boards of Directors of SEAT, S.A. and Gearbox del Prat, S.A. have approved the 

merger-by-absorption project of Gearbox del Prat, S.A. as absorbed company and SEAT, S.A. as absorbing company. 

At a later date, the Shareholders’ Meeting will approve the merger-by-absorption, to be implemented on April 1 2014, 

with retroactive effect to January 1.  
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4.7 ��APPENDIX 1.
	 EVOLUTION OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Cost of acquisition or manufacture Depreciation / Impairment Net book value

2012  
millions of euros

INITIAL  
BALANCE

 01.01.12 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS TRANSFERS IMPAIRMENT

END  
 BALANCE
 31.12.12

Initial 
 Balance
 01.01.12 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS TRANSFERS IMPAIRMENT

END   
BALANCE  
31.12.12

Initial 
 Balance 
01.01.12

End  
Balance 
31.12.12

Intangible assets 1,530.9 257.5 (104.6) 0.0 0.0 1,683.8 954.6 91.5 (103.3) 0.0 1.5 944.3 576.3 739.5

Research and Development 994.5 103.3 (103.7) 193.4 0.0 1,187.5 770.4 74.5 (102.8) 0.0 1.5 743.6 224.1 443.9

Software 48.4 1.1 (0.7) 0.0 0.0 48.8 44.8 2.0 (0.5) 0.0 0.0 46.3 3.6 2.5

Greenhouse gas emission rights 0.2 0.3 (0.2) 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.3

Other intangible assets 168.4 47.3 0.0 30.6 0.0 246.3 139.4 15.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 154.4 29.0 91.9

Payments on account and intangible assets  
in progress 319.4 105.5 0.0 (224.0) 0.0 200.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 319.4 200.9

Tangible assets 4,408.9 296.2 (12.5) 0.0 0.0 4,692.6 3,399.4 177.4 (12.0) 0.0 9.6 3,574.4 1,009.5 1,118.2

Land and buildings 697.0 4.1 (0.5) 0.0 0.0 700.6 286.3 15.6 (0.6) 0.0 0.2 301.5 410.7 399.1

Technical equipment and machinery 1,633.4 91.2 (6.7) 72.2 0.0 1,790.1 1,300.8 81.3 (6.7) 0.0 5.6 1,381.0 332.6 409.1

Other facilities, tools and office equipment 1,940.1 135.7 (5.0) 23.9 0.0 2,094.7 1,790.9 79.6 (4.4) 0.0 3.8 1,869.9 149.2 224.8

Other tangible assets 24.6 0.5 (0.3) 0.0 0.0 24.8 21.4 0.9 (0.3) 0.0 0.0 22.0 3.2 2.8

Payments on account and  tangible assets  
in progress 113.8 64.7 0.0 (96.1) 0.0 82.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 113.8 82.4

Long-term Group companies investments 1,123.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,123.0 16.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 (8.3) 8.6 1,106.1 1,114.4

Participations in Group companies 1,122.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,122.9 16.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 (8.3) 8.6 1,106.0 1,114.3

Loans to Group companies 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1

Other financial assets 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Long-term financial investments 1.8 0.3 (0.2) (0.3) 0.0 1.6 0.1 0.0 (0.1) 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.7 1.6

Other participations 0.1 0.0 (0.1) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 (0.1) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other loans 1.2 0.3 (0.1) (0.3) 0.0 1.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 1.1

Other financial assets 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.5

Deferred tax assets 400.6 15.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 416.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 400.6 416.3

Total 7,465.2 569.7 (117.3) (0.3) 0.0 7,917.3 4,371.0 268.9 (115.4) 0.0 2.8 4,527.3 3,094.2 3,390.0
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	 EVOLUTION OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Cost of acquisition or manufacture Depreciation / Impairment Net book value

2012  
millions of euros

INITIAL  
BALANCE

 01.01.12 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS TRANSFERS IMPAIRMENT

END  
 BALANCE
 31.12.12

Initial 
 Balance
 01.01.12 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS TRANSFERS IMPAIRMENT

END   
BALANCE  
31.12.12

Initial 
 Balance 
01.01.12

End  
Balance 
31.12.12

Intangible assets 1,530.9 257.5 (104.6) 0.0 0.0 1,683.8 954.6 91.5 (103.3) 0.0 1.5 944.3 576.3 739.5

Research and Development 994.5 103.3 (103.7) 193.4 0.0 1,187.5 770.4 74.5 (102.8) 0.0 1.5 743.6 224.1 443.9

Software 48.4 1.1 (0.7) 0.0 0.0 48.8 44.8 2.0 (0.5) 0.0 0.0 46.3 3.6 2.5

Greenhouse gas emission rights 0.2 0.3 (0.2) 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.3

Other intangible assets 168.4 47.3 0.0 30.6 0.0 246.3 139.4 15.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 154.4 29.0 91.9

Payments on account and intangible assets  
in progress 319.4 105.5 0.0 (224.0) 0.0 200.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 319.4 200.9

Tangible assets 4,408.9 296.2 (12.5) 0.0 0.0 4,692.6 3,399.4 177.4 (12.0) 0.0 9.6 3,574.4 1,009.5 1,118.2

Land and buildings 697.0 4.1 (0.5) 0.0 0.0 700.6 286.3 15.6 (0.6) 0.0 0.2 301.5 410.7 399.1

Technical equipment and machinery 1,633.4 91.2 (6.7) 72.2 0.0 1,790.1 1,300.8 81.3 (6.7) 0.0 5.6 1,381.0 332.6 409.1

Other facilities, tools and office equipment 1,940.1 135.7 (5.0) 23.9 0.0 2,094.7 1,790.9 79.6 (4.4) 0.0 3.8 1,869.9 149.2 224.8

Other tangible assets 24.6 0.5 (0.3) 0.0 0.0 24.8 21.4 0.9 (0.3) 0.0 0.0 22.0 3.2 2.8

Payments on account and  tangible assets  
in progress 113.8 64.7 0.0 (96.1) 0.0 82.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 113.8 82.4

Long-term Group companies investments 1,123.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,123.0 16.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 (8.3) 8.6 1,106.1 1,114.4

Participations in Group companies 1,122.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,122.9 16.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 (8.3) 8.6 1,106.0 1,114.3

Loans to Group companies 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1

Other financial assets 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Long-term financial investments 1.8 0.3 (0.2) (0.3) 0.0 1.6 0.1 0.0 (0.1) 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.7 1.6

Other participations 0.1 0.0 (0.1) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 (0.1) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other loans 1.2 0.3 (0.1) (0.3) 0.0 1.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 1.1

Other financial assets 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.5

Deferred tax assets 400.6 15.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 416.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 400.6 416.3

Total 7,465.2 569.7 (117.3) (0.3) 0.0 7,917.3 4,371.0 268.9 (115.4) 0.0 2.8 4,527.3 3,094.2 3,390.0
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Cost of acquisition or manufacture Depreciation / Impairment Net book value

2013  
millions of euros

INITIAL  
BALANCE 
01.01.13 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS TRANSFERS IMPAIRMENT

End  
Balance 
31.12.13

INITIAL  
BALANCE 
01.01.13 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS TRANSFERS IMPAIRMENT

END   
BALANCE 
31.12.13

INITIAL  
BALANCE 
01.01.13

End  
Balance 
31.12.13

Intangible assets 1,683.8 123.8 (0.2) 0.0 0.0 1,807.4 944.3 134.2 (0.1) 0.0 90.0 1,168.4 739.5 639.0

Research and Development 1,187.5 63.9 0.0 167.7 0.0 1,419.1 743.6 115.9 0.0 0.0 64.9 924.4 443.9 494.7

Software 48.8 1.0 (0.1) 0.0 0.0 49.7 46.3 2.0 (0.1) 0.0 0.0 48.2 2.5 1.5

Greenhouse gas emission rights 0.3 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.5

Other intangible assets 246.3 (4.2) (0.1) 25.3 0.0 267.3 154.4 16.3 0.0 0.0 25.1 195.8 91.9 71.5

Payments on account and intangible assets  
in progress 200.9 62.9 0.0 (193.0) 0.0 70.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 200.9 70.8

Tangible assets 4,692.6 213.0 (26.3) 0.0 0.0 4,879.3 3,574.4 202.3 (26.0) 0.0 0.5 3,751.2 1,118.2 1,128.1

Land and buildings 700.6 5.2 0.0 0.1 0.0 705.9 301.5 15.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 317.0 399.1 388.9

Technical equipment and machinery 1,790.1 72.9 (14.2) 47.2 0.0 1,896.0 1,381.0 94.3 (14.2) 0.0 0.2 1,461.3 409.1 434.7

Other facilities, tools and office equipment 2,094.7 124.6 (11.5) 33.7 0.0 2,241.5 1,869.9 91.7 (11.2) 0.0 0.3 1,950.7 224.8 290.8

Other tangible assets 24.8 0.3 (0.6) 0.0 0.0 24.5 22.0 0.8 (0.6) 0.0 0.0 22.2 2.8 2.3

Payments on account and  tangible assets  
in progress 82.4 10.0 0.0 (81.0) 0.0 11.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 82.4 11.4

Long-term Group companies investments 1,123.0 0.0 0.0 (0.1) 0.0 1,122.9 8.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 (7.3) 1.3 1,114.4 1,121.6

Participations in Group companies 1,122.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,122.9 8.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 (7.3) 1.3 1,114.3 1,121.6

Loans to Group companies 0.1 0.0 0.0 (0.1) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0

Other financial assets 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Long-term financial investments 1.6 0.3 (0.1) (0.3) 0.0 1.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.6 1.5

Other participations 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other loans 1.1 0.3 (0.1) (0.3) 0.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 1.0

Other financial assets 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.5

Deferred tax assets 416.3 0.0 (54.8) 0.0 0.0 361.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 416.3 361.5

Total 7,917.3 337.1 (81.4) (0.4) 0.0 8,172.6 4,527.3 336.5 (26.1) 0.0 83.2 4,920.9 3,390.0 3,251.7
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Cost of acquisition or manufacture Depreciation / Impairment Net book value

2013  
millions of euros

INITIAL  
BALANCE 
01.01.13 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS TRANSFERS IMPAIRMENT

End  
Balance 
31.12.13

INITIAL  
BALANCE 
01.01.13 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS TRANSFERS IMPAIRMENT

END   
BALANCE 
31.12.13

INITIAL  
BALANCE 
01.01.13

End  
Balance 
31.12.13

Intangible assets 1,683.8 123.8 (0.2) 0.0 0.0 1,807.4 944.3 134.2 (0.1) 0.0 90.0 1,168.4 739.5 639.0

Research and Development 1,187.5 63.9 0.0 167.7 0.0 1,419.1 743.6 115.9 0.0 0.0 64.9 924.4 443.9 494.7

Software 48.8 1.0 (0.1) 0.0 0.0 49.7 46.3 2.0 (0.1) 0.0 0.0 48.2 2.5 1.5

Greenhouse gas emission rights 0.3 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.5

Other intangible assets 246.3 (4.2) (0.1) 25.3 0.0 267.3 154.4 16.3 0.0 0.0 25.1 195.8 91.9 71.5

Payments on account and intangible assets  
in progress 200.9 62.9 0.0 (193.0) 0.0 70.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 200.9 70.8

Tangible assets 4,692.6 213.0 (26.3) 0.0 0.0 4,879.3 3,574.4 202.3 (26.0) 0.0 0.5 3,751.2 1,118.2 1,128.1

Land and buildings 700.6 5.2 0.0 0.1 0.0 705.9 301.5 15.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 317.0 399.1 388.9

Technical equipment and machinery 1,790.1 72.9 (14.2) 47.2 0.0 1,896.0 1,381.0 94.3 (14.2) 0.0 0.2 1,461.3 409.1 434.7

Other facilities, tools and office equipment 2,094.7 124.6 (11.5) 33.7 0.0 2,241.5 1,869.9 91.7 (11.2) 0.0 0.3 1,950.7 224.8 290.8

Other tangible assets 24.8 0.3 (0.6) 0.0 0.0 24.5 22.0 0.8 (0.6) 0.0 0.0 22.2 2.8 2.3

Payments on account and  tangible assets  
in progress 82.4 10.0 0.0 (81.0) 0.0 11.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 82.4 11.4

Long-term Group companies investments 1,123.0 0.0 0.0 (0.1) 0.0 1,122.9 8.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 (7.3) 1.3 1,114.4 1,121.6

Participations in Group companies 1,122.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,122.9 8.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 (7.3) 1.3 1,114.3 1,121.6

Loans to Group companies 0.1 0.0 0.0 (0.1) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0

Other financial assets 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Long-term financial investments 1.6 0.3 (0.1) (0.3) 0.0 1.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.6 1.5

Other participations 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other loans 1.1 0.3 (0.1) (0.3) 0.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 1.0

Other financial assets 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.5

Deferred tax assets 416.3 0.0 (54.8) 0.0 0.0 361.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 416.3 361.5

Total 7,917.3 337.1 (81.4) (0.4) 0.0 8,172.6 4,527.3 336.5 (26.1) 0.0 83.2 4,920.9 3,390.0 3,251.7
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4.8 � �APPENDIX 2.
	  SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

        (*) Companies subject to corporation tax under the consolidated tax regime.
      (**)	For valuation purposes, the figures are considered according to Group rules.
    (***)	See Note 5n.
  (****)	In 2012 the companies changed their business name.
(*****)	In 2012 the company was acquired by Volkswagen Finance, S.A. from Volkswagen Vericherungsvermittlung GmbH.

2012  
 millions of euros Location

Holding Gross
value 

31.12.12
Depreciation

31.12.12

Book  
value

31.12.12
Equity

31.12.12

Profit/loss
for year

2012

Dividend
received

2012Dir. Ind.

Production

Gearbox del Prat, S.A. (*) Prat de Ll. (Barcelona) 100 58.9 0.0 58.9 151.4 15.3

SEAT Sport, S.A. (*) Martorell (Barcelona) 100 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.5 (1.2)

Volkswagen Navarra, S.A. (*) Arazuri (Navarre) 100 654.4 0.0 654.4 655.3 44.2 52.2

Volkswagen Argentina, S.A. (**) Buenos Aires (Argentina) 100 104.6 0.0 104.6 175.9 38.5

Distribution and Marketing SEAT 

SEAT Center Arrábida Automovéis, LDA Setúbal (Portugal) 2     98        0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 (1.2)

SEAT Deutschland GmbH Mörfelden-Walldorf  (Germany) 100 51.1 (7.3) 43.8 43.8 8.7

SEAT Deutschland Niederlassung GmbH  Frankfurt (Germany) 100 0.2 0.0

SEAT Motor España, S.A. (*) (***) Barcelona 100 0.4 (3.7)

SEAT Saint-Martin SAS Paris (France) 100 1.0 (1.0) 0.0 0.1 (0.1)

Distribution and Marketing VW/ Audi/Skoda

Volkswagen-Audi España, S.A. (*) Prat de Ll. (Barcelona) 100 16.0 0.0 16.0 144.5 13.1 43.0

Volkswagen Group Retail Spain, S.L. (*) (****) Prat de Ll. (Barcelona) 100 30.2 1.5

Astur Wagen, S.A. (*) Gijón (Asturias) 100 2.0 (0.9)

Audi Retail Barcelona, S.A. (*) (****) Barcelona 100 1.2 (0.7)

Volkswagen Madrid, S.A. (*) (****) Madrid 100 2.5 (0.8)

Volkswagen Barcelona, S.A. (*) (****) Barcelona 100 1.3 (0.5)

Leioa Wagen, S.A. Leioa (Vizcaya) 100 3.5 0.2

Levante Wagen, S.A. (*) Valencia 100 4.5 0.8

Málaga Wagen, S.A. (*) Málaga 100 1.2 (0.1)

Sevilla Wagen, S.A. (*) Sevilla 100 5.8 (0.1)

Valladolid Wagen, S.A. (*) Valladolid 100 1.7 0.5

Audi Retail Madrid, S.A. (*) (****) Madrid 100 1.1 (1.1)

Services

Centro Técnico de SEAT, S.A. (*) Martorell (Barcelona) 96 99.6 0.0 99.6 131.4 0.3

Volkswagen Finance, S.A. (*) Alcobendas (Madrid) 100 136.6 0.0 136.6 360.8 15.4

Volkswagen Renting, S.A.  (*) (****) Alcobendas (Madrid) 100 5.2 (3.2)

Volkswagen Insurance Services Correduría  
de Seguros, S.L. (*****) Prat de Ll. (Barcelona) 100 3.2 2.8

SEAT Portugal, Unipessoal, LDA Lisbon (Portugal) 100 0.6 (0.3) 0.3 0.3 (1.1)

Volkswagen Compañía Financiera, S.A. Buenos Aires (Argentina) 100 9.2 2.1

Volkswagen S.A. De Ahorro Para Fines Determinados Buenos Aires (Argentina) 100 6.5 3.7
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2012  
 millions of euros Location

Holding Gross
value 

31.12.12
Depreciation

31.12.12

Book  
value

31.12.12
Equity

31.12.12

Profit/loss
for year

2012

Dividend
received

2012Dir. Ind.

Production

Gearbox del Prat, S.A. (*) Prat de Ll. (Barcelona) 100 58.9 0.0 58.9 151.4 15.3

SEAT Sport, S.A. (*) Martorell (Barcelona) 100 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.5 (1.2)

Volkswagen Navarra, S.A. (*) Arazuri (Navarre) 100 654.4 0.0 654.4 655.3 44.2 52.2

Volkswagen Argentina, S.A. (**) Buenos Aires (Argentina) 100 104.6 0.0 104.6 175.9 38.5

Distribution and Marketing SEAT 

SEAT Center Arrábida Automovéis, LDA Setúbal (Portugal) 2     98        0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 (1.2)

SEAT Deutschland GmbH Mörfelden-Walldorf  (Germany) 100 51.1 (7.3) 43.8 43.8 8.7

SEAT Deutschland Niederlassung GmbH  Frankfurt (Germany) 100 0.2 0.0

SEAT Motor España, S.A. (*) (***) Barcelona 100 0.4 (3.7)

SEAT Saint-Martin SAS Paris (France) 100 1.0 (1.0) 0.0 0.1 (0.1)

Distribution and Marketing VW/ Audi/Skoda

Volkswagen-Audi España, S.A. (*) Prat de Ll. (Barcelona) 100 16.0 0.0 16.0 144.5 13.1 43.0

Volkswagen Group Retail Spain, S.L. (*) (****) Prat de Ll. (Barcelona) 100 30.2 1.5

Astur Wagen, S.A. (*) Gijón (Asturias) 100 2.0 (0.9)

Audi Retail Barcelona, S.A. (*) (****) Barcelona 100 1.2 (0.7)

Volkswagen Madrid, S.A. (*) (****) Madrid 100 2.5 (0.8)

Volkswagen Barcelona, S.A. (*) (****) Barcelona 100 1.3 (0.5)

Leioa Wagen, S.A. Leioa (Vizcaya) 100 3.5 0.2

Levante Wagen, S.A. (*) Valencia 100 4.5 0.8

Málaga Wagen, S.A. (*) Málaga 100 1.2 (0.1)

Sevilla Wagen, S.A. (*) Sevilla 100 5.8 (0.1)

Valladolid Wagen, S.A. (*) Valladolid 100 1.7 0.5

Audi Retail Madrid, S.A. (*) (****) Madrid 100 1.1 (1.1)

Services

Centro Técnico de SEAT, S.A. (*) Martorell (Barcelona) 96 99.6 0.0 99.6 131.4 0.3

Volkswagen Finance, S.A. (*) Alcobendas (Madrid) 100 136.6 0.0 136.6 360.8 15.4

Volkswagen Renting, S.A.  (*) (****) Alcobendas (Madrid) 100 5.2 (3.2)

Volkswagen Insurance Services Correduría  
de Seguros, S.L. (*****) Prat de Ll. (Barcelona) 100 3.2 2.8

SEAT Portugal, Unipessoal, LDA Lisbon (Portugal) 100 0.6 (0.3) 0.3 0.3 (1.1)

Volkswagen Compañía Financiera, S.A. Buenos Aires (Argentina) 100 9.2 2.1

Volkswagen S.A. De Ahorro Para Fines Determinados Buenos Aires (Argentina) 100 6.5 3.7
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      (*)  Companies subject to corporation tax under the consolidated tax regime.
    (**)  For valuation purposes, the figures are considered according to Group rules.
  (***)  See Note 5n. 
(****)  SEAT Motor España, S.A. has available an equity loan amounting to 2.6 million euros.

2013  
millions of euros Location

Holding Gross
value 

31.12.13

 
Depreciation

31.12.13

Book
value

31.12.13

 
Equity

31.12.13

Profit/loss
for year

2013

Dividend
received

2013Dir. Ind.

Production

Gearbox del Prat, S.A. (*) Prat de Ll. (Barcelona) 100 58.9 0.0 58.9 168.2 17.7

SEAT Sport, S.A. (*) Martorell (Barcelona) 100 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.6 0.0

Volkswagen Navarra, S.A. (*) Arazuri (Navarre) 100 654.4 0.0 654.4 662.4 50.2 39.8

Volkswagen Argentina, S.A. (**) Buenos Aires (Argentina) 100 104.6 0.0 104.6 193.5 25.2

Distribution and Marketing SEAT 

SEAT Center Arrábida Automovéis, LDA Setúbal (Portugal) 2     98        0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 (0.2)

SEAT Deutschland GmbH Mörfelden-Walldorf  (Germany) 100 51.1 0.0 51.1 52.3 8.5

SEAT Deutschland Niederlassung GmbH  Frankfurt (Germany) 100 0.2 0.0

SEAT Motor España, S.A. (*) (***) (****) Barcelona 100 (2.5) (3.9)

SEAT Saint-Martin SAS Paris (France) 100 1.0 (1.0) 0.0 0.3 0.3

Distribution and Marketing VW/Audi/Skoda

Volkswagen-Audi España, S.A. (*) Prat de Ll. (Barcelona) 100 16.0 0.0 16.0 115.6 15.5 44.5

Volkswagen Group Retail Spain, S.L. (*) Prat de Ll. (Barcelona) 100 27.5 (1.3)

Astur Wagen, S.A. (*) Gijón (Asturias) 100 2.1 0.1

Audi Retail Barcelona, S.A. (*) Barcelona 100 0.7 (0.5)

Volkswagen Madrid, S.A. (*) Madrid 100 2.4 (0.1)

Volkswagen Barcelona, S.A. (*) Barcelona 100 0.6 (0.6)

Leioa Wagen, S.A. Leioa (Vizcaya) 100 2.8 (0.5)

Levante Wagen, S.A. (*) Valencia 100 4.5 0.7

Málaga Wagen, S.A. (*) Málaga 100 0.9 (0.3)

Sevilla Wagen, S.A. (*) Sevilla 100 5.2 (0.6)

Valladolid Wagen, S.A. (*) Valladolid 100 1.4 0.3

Audi Retail Madrid, S.A. (*) Madrid 100 1.4 0.2

Services

Centro Técnico de SEAT, S.A. (*) Martorell (Barcelona) 96 99.6 0.0 99.6 131.1 (0.3)

Volkswagen Finance, S.A. (*) Alcobendas (Madrid) 100 136.6 0.0 136.6 394.2 33.4

Volkswagen Renting, S.A. (*) Alcobendas (Madrid) 100 14.8 4.7

Volkswagen Insurance Services Correduría  
de  Seguros, S.L. (*) Prat de Ll. (Barcelona) 100 2.4 2.0

SEAT Portugal, Unipessoal, LDA Lisbon (Portugal) 100 0.6 (0.3) 0.3 0.2 0.0

Volkswagen Compañía Financiera, S.A. Buenos Aires (Argentina) 100 6.9 1.3

Volkswagen S.A. De Ahorro Para Fines Determinados Buenos Aires (Argentina) 100 29.3 24.3
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2013  
millions of euros Location

Holding Gross
value 

31.12.13

 
Depreciation

31.12.13

Book
value

31.12.13

 
Equity

31.12.13

Profit/loss
for year

2013

Dividend
received

2013Dir. Ind.

Production

Gearbox del Prat, S.A. (*) Prat de Ll. (Barcelona) 100 58.9 0.0 58.9 168.2 17.7

SEAT Sport, S.A. (*) Martorell (Barcelona) 100 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.6 0.0

Volkswagen Navarra, S.A. (*) Arazuri (Navarre) 100 654.4 0.0 654.4 662.4 50.2 39.8

Volkswagen Argentina, S.A. (**) Buenos Aires (Argentina) 100 104.6 0.0 104.6 193.5 25.2

Distribution and Marketing SEAT 

SEAT Center Arrábida Automovéis, LDA Setúbal (Portugal) 2     98        0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 (0.2)

SEAT Deutschland GmbH Mörfelden-Walldorf  (Germany) 100 51.1 0.0 51.1 52.3 8.5

SEAT Deutschland Niederlassung GmbH  Frankfurt (Germany) 100 0.2 0.0

SEAT Motor España, S.A. (*) (***) (****) Barcelona 100 (2.5) (3.9)

SEAT Saint-Martin SAS Paris (France) 100 1.0 (1.0) 0.0 0.3 0.3

Distribution and Marketing VW/Audi/Skoda

Volkswagen-Audi España, S.A. (*) Prat de Ll. (Barcelona) 100 16.0 0.0 16.0 115.6 15.5 44.5

Volkswagen Group Retail Spain, S.L. (*) Prat de Ll. (Barcelona) 100 27.5 (1.3)

Astur Wagen, S.A. (*) Gijón (Asturias) 100 2.1 0.1

Audi Retail Barcelona, S.A. (*) Barcelona 100 0.7 (0.5)

Volkswagen Madrid, S.A. (*) Madrid 100 2.4 (0.1)

Volkswagen Barcelona, S.A. (*) Barcelona 100 0.6 (0.6)

Leioa Wagen, S.A. Leioa (Vizcaya) 100 2.8 (0.5)

Levante Wagen, S.A. (*) Valencia 100 4.5 0.7

Málaga Wagen, S.A. (*) Málaga 100 0.9 (0.3)

Sevilla Wagen, S.A. (*) Sevilla 100 5.2 (0.6)

Valladolid Wagen, S.A. (*) Valladolid 100 1.4 0.3

Audi Retail Madrid, S.A. (*) Madrid 100 1.4 0.2

Services

Centro Técnico de SEAT, S.A. (*) Martorell (Barcelona) 96 99.6 0.0 99.6 131.1 (0.3)

Volkswagen Finance, S.A. (*) Alcobendas (Madrid) 100 136.6 0.0 136.6 394.2 33.4

Volkswagen Renting, S.A. (*) Alcobendas (Madrid) 100 14.8 4.7

Volkswagen Insurance Services Correduría  
de  Seguros, S.L. (*) Prat de Ll. (Barcelona) 100 2.4 2.0

SEAT Portugal, Unipessoal, LDA Lisbon (Portugal) 100 0.6 (0.3) 0.3 0.2 0.0

Volkswagen Compañía Financiera, S.A. Buenos Aires (Argentina) 100 6.9 1.3

Volkswagen S.A. De Ahorro Para Fines Determinados Buenos Aires (Argentina) 100 29.3 24.3
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2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Retail sales (units) 336,683  339,501 350,009 321,002 355,004

Wholesales of new vehicles (units) 303,230 339,315 358,970 415,083 447,327

Wholesales of used vehicles (units) 8,356 6,838 8,062 10,633 12,677

Production in Martorell plant (units) 301,287 335,057 353,420 377,343 390,048

Production of SEAT brand in Group plants (units) 6,215 10,050 19,129 50,802 67,250

Basic workforce at 31.12 10,369 10,354 11,394 11,465 11,458

Martorell (includes Spare Parts Centre) 9,126 9,101 10,129 10,257 10,233

Zona Franca 1,222 1,220 1,223 1,164 1,180

Other centres 21 33 42 44 45

Partial retirement workforce at 31.12 1,097 372 5 134 133

Apprentices with labour contract at 31.12 0 0 0 111 166

Net sales (millions of euros)  4,101.3 4,662.8 5,049.1 6,086.9 6,472.9 

   Spain 1,393.0 1,595.1 1,261.4 1,006.4 1,080.8 

Vehicles 911.5 1,114.7 787.3 578.4 646.5 

Spare parts 344.3 338.4 319.2 292.2 281.8 

Other sales 137.2 142.0 154.9 135.8 152.5 

   Export 2,708.3 3,067.7 3,787.7 5,080.5 5,392.1 

Vehicles 2,491.3 2,851.4 3,575.2 4,869.7 5,168.6 

Spare parts 179.2 188.4 184.1 182.5 196.0 

Other sales 37.8 27.9 28.4 28.3 27.5 

Shareholders’ equity (millions of euros) 821.7 717.8 656.3 626.7 478.0 

Result before tax (millions of euros) (299.5) (269.7) (154.2) (79.4) (144.4)

After-tax result (millions of euros) (186.5) (103.9) (61.5) (29.6) (148.7)

Depreciation (millions of euros) 339.2 307.7 301.2 268.9 336.5 

Investments (millions of euros) 397.4 383.7 417.1 554.0 337.1 

SEAT, S.A. KEY FIGURES (2009/2013) 



Consumption (mveg) l/100 km - CO
2 

(g/km) emissions

CONSUMPTION AND EMISSION FIGURES            

 

   Model (*) (**)

Power Gearbox Consumption (mveg) l/100 km
CO2 emissions
Average (g/km)KW HP Man. Aut. Town Out of Town Average

Mii
1.0 MPI 12V 44 60 x 5.6 3.9 4.5 105

1.0 MPI 12V 55 75 x 5.9 4.0 4.7 108

1.0 MPI 12V Automatic   44 60 x 5.3 3.9 4.4 103

1.0 MPI 12V Automatic  55 75 x 5.5 4.0 4.5 105

1.0 MPI 12V Start/Stop Ecomotive 44 60 x 5.0 3.6 4.1 95

1.0 MPI 12V Start/Stop Ecomotive 55 75 x 5.1 3.7 4.2 98

1.0 MPI 12V Ecofuel Ecomotive (***) 50 68 x 5.5 /3.6 3.8 / 2.5 4.4 / 2.9 79

Ibiza/SC/ST
1.2 MPI 12V 44 60 x 7.1 / 7.3 4.4 / 4.5 5.4 / 5.5 125 / 128

1.2 MPI 12V 51 70 x 7.1 / 7.4 4.4 / 4.5 5.4 / 5.6 125 / 133

1.4 MPI 16V        63 85 x 8.0 4.7 5.9 139

1.6 MPI BiFuel (****) 60 81 x 8.0 / 10.2 4.7 / 5.8 5.9 / 7.4 137 / 120

1.6 MPI 77 105 x 8.4 5.0 6.3 149

1.6 MPI Automatic 77 105 x 7.7 4.8 5.8 139

1.2 TSI       63 85 x 6.5 4.4 5.1 119

1.2 TSI       77 105 x 6.5 4.4 5.1 119

1.2 TSI DSG 77 105 x 7.0 4.4 5.3 124

1.2 TSI Start/Stop 77 105 x 5.9 4.3 4.9 113

1.4 TSI Start/Stop FR 77 105 x 6.0 4.4 5.0 115

1.4 TSI ACT Start/Stop FR 103 140 x 5.9 4.0 4.7 109

1.4 TSI DSG FR 110 150 x 7.5 5.1 5.9 139

1.4 TSI DSG Cupra 132 180 x 7.5 5.1 5.9 139

1.2 TDI CR 55 75 x 4.6 / 4.8 3.3 / 3.4 3.8 / 3.9 99 / 102

1.2 TDI CR Start/Stop Ecomotive 55 75 x 4.1  / 4.2 3.0 / 3.1 3.4 / 3.5 88 / 92

1.6 TDI CR 66 90 x 5.1 3.6 4.2 109

1.6 TDI CR DSG 66 90 x 5.2 3.7 4.3 112

1.6 TDI CR 77 105 x 5.1 / 6.0 3.6 / 3.9 4.2 / 4.7 109 / 124

2.0 TDI CR 105 143 x 5.9 / 6.0 3.9 / 4.0 4.6 / 4.7 119 / 123

Toledo 
1.2 MPI 55 75 x 8.1 4.6 5.9 137

1.6 MPI 77 105 x 8.9 4.9 6.4 152

1.6 MPI Automatic 77 105 x 10.2 6.0 7.5 180

1.2 TSI 63 85 x 6.5 4.4 5.1 119

1.2 TSI Start/Stop Ecomotive 63 85 x 5.9 4.3 4.9 114

1.2 TSI 77 105 x 6.9 4.6 5.4 125

1.2 TSI Start/Stop 77 105 x 6.3 / 6.4 4.2 / 4.3 5.0 / 5.1 116 / 118

1.4 TSI DSG 90 122 x 7.4 4.8 5.8 134

1.6 TDI CR 66 90 x 5.6 3.7 4.4 114

1.6 TDI CR DSG 66 90 x 5.6 3.9 4.5 118

1.6 TDI CR 77 105 x 5.6 / 6.0 3.7 4.4 / 4.6 114 / 120

1.6 TDI CR Start/Stop Ecomotive 77 105 x 4.8 / 4.9 3.4 / 3.5 3.9 / 4.0 104 / 106 

1.6 TDI CR Ecomotive 77 105 x 4.5 3.4 3.8 99



 

   Model (*) (**)

Power Gearbox Consumption (mveg) l/100 km
CO2 emissions
Average (g/km)KW HP Man. Aut. Town Out of Town Average

Altea/XL/Freetrack
1.2 TSI Ecomotive              77 105 x 6.9 5.1 5.7 132

1.4 TSI         92 125 x 8.2 / 8.4 5.5 / 5.7 6.5 / 6.7 152 / 155

1.6 BiFuel (****) 75 / 72 102 / 98 x 10.0 / 13.1 6.1 / 7.8 7.5 / 9.8 174 / 159

2.0 TSI DSG 155 210 x 10.4 / 11.0 6.6 / 7.0 8.0 / 8.4 186 / 197

1.6 TDI CR DSG 77 105 x 5.8 4.4 4.9 129

1.6 TDI CR Start/Stop 77 105 x 5.2 4.1 4.5 119

1.6 TDI CR Start/Stop Ecomotive 77 105 x 5.1 3.7 4.2 111

2.0 TDI CR 16V 103 140 x 6.2 / 7.4 4.2 / 5.1 4.9 / 5.9 129 / 155

Leon
1.2 TSI 63 86 x 6.5 4.4 5.2 119

1.2 TSI 77 105 x 6.5 4.4 5.2 119

1.2 TSI Start/Stop 77 105 x 5.9 4.3 4.9 114

1.2 TSI DSG Start/Stop 77 105 x 5.6 / 5.8 4.4 / 4.5 4.8 / 5.0 112 / 115

1.4 TSI Start/Stop 90 122 x 6.5 / 6.6 4.4 / 4.6 5.2 / 5.3 120 / 123

1.4 TSI Start/Stop 103 140 x 6.4 / 6.6 4.5 5.2 / 5.3 119 / 121

1.8 TSI Start/Stop        132 180 x 7.5 4.9 5.9 137

1.8 TSI DSG Start/Stop        132 180 x 7.1 4.8 5.7 132

2.0 TSI DSG Start/Stop        206 280 x 8.5 5.7 6.7 155

1.6 TDI CR       66 90 x 5.2 3.5 4.1 108

1.6 TDI CR       77 105 x 5.2 3.5 4.1 108

1.6 TDI CR Start/Stop 77 105 x 4.6 3.3 3.8 99

1.6 TDI CR DSG Start/Stop 77 105 x 4.6 3.5 3.9 102

1.6 TDI CR Start/Stop Ecomotive 81 110 x 3.8 / 3.9 3.0 / 3.1 3.2 / 3.3 85 / 87

2.0 TDI CR 110 150 x 5.4 4.0 4.4 116

2.0 TDI CR Start/Stop 110 150 x 5.0 3.6 4.1 106

2.0 TDI CR DSG Start/Stop 110 150 x 5.2 / 5.4 4.0 / 4.1 4.4 / 4.5 117 / 119

2.0 TDI CR Start/Stop 135 184 x 5.2 / 5.4 3.7 / 3.8 4.2 / 4.3 109 / 112

2.0 TDI CR DSG Start/Stop 135 184 x 5.5 / 5.7 4.0 / 4.1 4.5 / 4.7 119 / 122

Alhambra (*****)

  1.4 TSI Start/Stop 110 150 x 9.2 6.1 7.2 167

  1.4 TSI DSG 110 150 x 9.4 6.6 7.6 178

  2.0 TSI DSG 147 200 x 11.5 6.6 8.4 196

  2.0 TDI CR Start/Stop 85 115 x 6.8 4.8 5.5 143

  2.0 TDI CR Start/Stop 100 136 x 6.8 4.8 5.5 143

  2.0 TDI CR DSG Start/Stop 100 136 x 6.9 5.0 5.7 149

  2.0 TDI CR Start/Stop Ecomotive 103 140 x 6.8 4.8 5.5 143

  2.0 TDI CR 4WD Start/Stop 103 140 x 7.4 5.2 6.0 158

  2.0 TDI CR DSG Start/Stop 103 140 x 6.9 5.0 5.7 149

  2.0 TDI CR Start/Stop 130 177 x 7.3 5.0 5.8 152

  2.0 TDI CR DSG Start/Stop 130 177 x 6.7 5.4 5.9 154

        (*)  Engines sold in European Union in 2013. Discontinued models not included.
      (**)  Where different models provide different results, data shown refer to minimum and maximum values.
    (***)  Consumption (m³/100km - kg/100km).
  (****)  Power, consumption and CO

2
 emissions: 95 octane petrol / LPG.

(*****)  CO
2
 value for 5-seat model
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